# THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN DIETARY INTAKE AND RISK OF OVERWEIGHT AMONG 17-YEAR-OLD ADOLESCENTS IN SOWETO, JOHANNESBURG, SOUTH AFRICA, IN 2007/2008



Clarence Suh Yah

A Research Report submitted to the School of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, in fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Masters in Epidemiology and Biostatistics.

Johannesburg, February 2014

# DECLARATION

I declare that this research report is my own work and the contribution of others has been appropriately acknowledged. The report submitted is for the award of the Degree of Master of Science in Epidemiology and Biostatistics of the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa. It has not been submitted for any degree purpose or examination to any College, University or Organization rather than the one thereof.

Signature of Candidate

26<sup>th</sup> March 2014

# **Conference Proceedings**

Clarence S Yah, Alison Feeley, Tobias F. Chirwa. 2013. Dietary intake and risk of overweight among 17-year old adolescents in Soweto Johannesburg, South Africa in 2007/2008. A paper presented during the The 9th PHASA conference in association with the African Federation of Public Health Associations (AFPHA) was held in Cape Town from 24-27 September 2013

# **Travel Awards**

Travel award from the University of the Witwatersrand School of Public Health to attend and present a paper at the 9th PHASA conference in association with the African Federation of Public Health Associations (AFPHA) was held in Cape Town from 24-27 September 2013.

## ABSTRACT

**Background**: Overweight continues to be a major indicator of adulthood non-communicable diseases (NCDs) risk and can be linked to early childhood and adolescent dietary lifestyles.

Research has shown that the burden of childhood and adolescent overweight in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) and especially in South Africa is rising. There is therefore an urgent need to address this burden in the context of overweight risk related to nutrition transition. The current study used Birth to Twenty (BT20) cohort study data to examine the association between dietary intake and overweight status of 17-year old adolescents residing in Soweto, South Africa in 2007/2008.

**Methods:** A secondary data analysis was conducted including 227 seventeen-year old adolescents (43.6% boys) from the BT20 cohort study. A modified quantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) was used to estimate dietary intake. Height and weight were measured by trained research assistants and overweight was categorized using the International Obesity Task Force (IOBTF) cut-offs. A multinomial logistic regression model was used to examine the association between overweight category (BMI) and dietary intake, socio-demographic factors and other covariates. The base reference used for Body Mass Index (BMI) category was normal weight.

**Results:** The overall overweight prevalence was 14.5% (33/227), and prevalence of underweight was 23.3% (53/227) among the 17-year old Soweto adolescents. The prevalence of overweight was significantly higher in girls (19.3%) than boys (8.1%). The prevalence of underweight was 33.3% for boys and 15.6% for girls. The univariate analysis found the following macronutrient intake positively associated with boys' BMI category: fat 189.4g (IQR=119.9-239.8, P<0.001), proteins 154.6g (IQR = 98.7-198.2, P<0.001) and carbohydrate 673.1g (IQR = 461-794.2, P<0.001). The following macronutrients: fat 176.4g (IQR = 99.5-220.1, P<0.001), proteins

iv

126.1g (IQR = 70.4-145, P < 0.001.) and carbohydrates 523.1g (IQR = 326.6-640.9, P < 0.001) were positively associated with girls' BMI category.

The socio-demographic factors found associated with girls' BMI were ethnicity (p=0.042) and maternal education (p=0.05). Also factors such as washing machine ownership (p=0.046), and parents having a car (p=0.048) were positively associated with boys BMI category.

The multinomial logistic regression showed no significant differences in dietary intake when overweight boys were compared to normal weight boys: fat intake (RRR=0.99, 95% CI=0.95-1.01), carbohydrate (RRR=0.99, 95% CI=.96-1.01) and energy intake (RRR=1.01, 95% CI=0.99-1.01). Similar non significant results were observed for girls: fat intake (RRR=1.0, 95% CI=0.96-1.01), carbohydrate (RRR=1.0, 95% CI =0.99-1.02) and energy intake (RRR=1.0, 95% CI=0.95% CI=0.99-1.01).

Girls from the coloured community were more likely to be underweight than black African girls (RRR= 2.8, 95% CI=0.89-8.57). The results also showed that girls from mixed ancestral community (RRR= 0.25, 95% CI=0.05-1.20) were less likely to be overweight than black African girls.

**Discussion and Conclusion:** The survey indicated high prevalence of both underweight and overweight among 17 year old adolescents residing in Soweto. This underscores the urgent need for both underweight and overweight prevention interventions and also highlights the need for an integrated surveillance system for both underweight and overweight among South African adolescents.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First of all, I would like to thank Our Lord Jesus Christ for the opportunity given to me to successfully complete the postgraduate Epidemiology and Biostatistics programme. It was not an easy journey especially being a self-sponsored student.

I would love to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Tobias F. Chirwa and Dr. Alison B. Feeley for their guidance, leadership, support and patience during this report. I would also like to thank the Staff of the School of Public Health at the time for the support given to me during the programme especially Peter Nyasulu, Edmore Marinda, Eustasius Musenge, Gill Nelson, Benn Sartorius, Charles Chasela, Sara Nieuwoudt, and administrators Angeline Zwane and Busi Ngoyi.

To my fellow Epidemiology and Biostatistics classmates of 2012, being your class representative your encouragement was not less likely but more likely than any other thing (P=0000). I wish to extend my sincere gratitude to Rebecca Pradeilles from Loughborough University and Kari Riggle from University of Witwatersrand who kindly helped me to code the food frequency questionnaires. Without their help and support, I would not have achieved the required number of observations whose analysis is presented in this report. I wish to also acknowledge the fact that Kari, served to gain nothing from this exercise yet she contributed enormously to the coding of the questionnaires. I will also love to thank the staff of BT20, Zandile Lephoto, Zama Zulu and Yusuf Guman, for capturing the data and the support given to me during the capturing and quality checking of the data. I assure you that I am more than grateful. I will not fail to say thank you to Prof Shane Norris, the Director of DPHRU and again to Dr Alison Feeley for her kind humble patience and understanding. Wishing all of you at DPHRU the best in life as you continue to improve the quality of lives of BT20 participants and

beyond. I know how the heat was on my family. My dear wife Mercy Bih and Kids, I am short of words to say thank you for the support.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page	i
DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	<u>iv</u>
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	vi <u>i</u>
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi
DEFINITION OF TERMS	xiv <u>v</u>
1.0 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background information	2
1.2 Statement of problem	6
1.3 Justification for the study	7
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW	9
2.1 Dietary intake (Diet)	9
2.1.1 Energy needs of the adolescent	
2.1.2 Protein need of adolescents	16
2.1.3 Carbohydrate need of adolescents	
2.1.4 Fat need of adolescents	
2.2 Dietary assessment methods	17
2.2.1 Diet history (retrospective method)	
2.2.2 Twenty four (24)-hour recall	
2.2.3 Weighed food records	
2.2.4 Food frequency questionnaires (FFQ)	
2.3 Overweight and Obesity	21 <u>1</u>
2.4 Factors related to overweight	23
2.4.1 Genetic factors relating to overweight	

2.4.2 Socioeconomic factors relating to overweight	
2.4.3 Demographic factors related to overweight	
2.5 Consequences of overweight and obesity	28 <u>8</u>
2.5.1 Economic consequences	
2.6 Prevention of overweight/obesity	
2.7 Aims and objectives of the study	
2.7.1 Aims	
2.7.2 Research question	
2.7.3 Study objectives	
3.0 METHODOLOGY	Error! Bookmark not defined.
3.1 Study design	Error! Bookmark not defined.
3.2 Study population	35
3.2.1 Sample size calculation	
3.2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	
3.3 Measurement instrument and variables	
3.3.1 Evaluation of the Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ)	
3.3.2 Outcome variables	
3.3.3.1 Evaluation of Energ Intake	
3.3.3 Exposures variables	
3.3.3.2 Socio-economic Variables	
3.3.3.3 Demographic variables	
3.4 Data management and analysis	40
3.4.1 Data Quality assurance	40
3.4.2 Descriptive statistics	
3.4.3 Inferential statistics	

3.5 Ethical consideration	41
4.0 RESULTS	
5.0 DISCUSSION	
6.0 CONCLUSION	
7.0 REFERENCES	
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1: Age distribution of BMI among South Africans	
Table 2: WHO estimate of BMR as derived from Schofield equations	
Table 3: Daily energy requirement as derived from quadratic regressions according to FAO/WHO/UNU (2001)	
Table 4: Daily recommended requirement for carbohydrate, protein and fat g/day for a	dolescent
Table 6: Categorisation of adult BMI weightsError! Bookmark no	ot defined.
Table 7: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South	Africans 27
Table 7: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South         Table 8: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by gender in 17-year-old ad         Soweto, 2007/2008.	Africans 
<ul> <li>Table 7: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South</li> <li>Table 8: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by gender in 17-year-old ad</li> <li>Soweto, 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 9. Body mass index using WHO cut-off percentiles for 17-year-old adolescents i</li> <li>2007/2008</li> </ul>	Africans 
<ul> <li>Table 7: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South</li> <li>Table 8: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by gender in 17-year-old ad</li> <li>Soweto, 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 9. Body mass index using WHO cut-off percentiles for 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008</li> <li>Table 10: Anthropometric body mass index characteristics of 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008.</li> </ul>	Africans 
<ul> <li>Table 7: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South</li> <li>Table 8: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by gender in 17-year-old ad</li> <li>Soweto, 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 9. Body mass index using WHO cut-off percentiles for 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 10: Anthropometric body mass index characteristics of 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 11: Daily energy and macronutrient intake by gender in 17-year-old adolescents, 2007/2008.</li> </ul>	Africans 
<ul> <li>Table 7: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South</li> <li>Table 8: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by gender in 17-year-old ad</li> <li>Soweto, 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 9. Body mass index using WHO cut-off percentiles for 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 10: Anthropometric body mass index characteristics of 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 11: Daily energy and macronutrient intake by gender in 17-year-old adolescents, 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 12: Distribution of socio-demographic factors by BMI among 17-year old boys i 2007/2008.</li> </ul>	Africans 
<ul> <li>Table 7: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South</li> <li>Table 8: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by gender in 17-year-old ad</li> <li>Soweto, 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 9. Body mass index using WHO cut-off percentiles for 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008</li> <li>Table 10: Anthropometric body mass index characteristics of 17-year-old adolescents i 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 11: Daily energy and macronutrient intake by gender in 17-year-old adolescents, 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 12: Distribution of socio-demographic factors by BMI among 17-year old boys i 2007/2008.</li> <li>Table 13: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by BMI in 17-year-old girl Soweto, 2007/2008.</li> </ul>	Africans 

Table 15: Relative risk ratios associated with BMI of 17-year-old girls in Soweto, 2007/2008 52	2
LIST OF FIGURES	
Fig: 1.Conceptual frame work of factors associated with body mass index	4
8.0. APPENDICES	1
Appendix I: Abstract of the quantitative FFQ Table dietary intake used in the study (For more information contact DPHRU, Wits)	1
Appendix II: Quantitative derived scoring of dietary intake (Further information contact DPHRU, Wits)	2
Appendix IIIa: Approval letter from Birth to Twenty to use the data for the study	4
Appendix IIIb: University of the Witwatersrand Ethical Clearance Letter	5

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMDR: Acceptable Macronutrient Distribution Ranges

ADSA: Association for Dietetics in South Africa

BMR: Basal Metabolic Rate

BMI: Body Mass Index

BT20: Birth to Twenty

CV: Coefficient of Variation

CVD: Cardiovascular Disease

DALYs: Disability Adjusted Life Years

DOBE: Department of Basic Education

DXA: Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry Scans

FAO: Food and Agricultural Organization

IOTF: International Obesity Task Force

Kcal: Kilo Calories

Kg: Kilogram

KJ: Kilo Joules

M: Meter

NNSA: Nutrition Society of South Africa

NFCS: National Food Consumption Survey

NSNP: National School Nutrition Programme

OECD: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

EI: Energy Intake

EER: Estimated Energy Requirements

PAL: Physical Activities Level

- RDA: Recommended Daily Allowance
- RDI: Recommended Daily Intake
- SAHSF: South African Heart and Stroke Foundation
- SES: Socioeconomic
- SSA: sub-Saharan Africa
- TEE: Total Energy Expenditure
- WHO: World Health Organization.

# **DEFINITION OF TERMS**

#### Variable

# Definition

- DemographicGives report about people in a locality such as sex, age, maritalinformationstatus, province of origin, residence etc.
- Socioeconomic The combination of economic and sociological status of a person information to measure status such as level of education, occupation, home type, own home, telephone, water use, water type, toilet use, toilet type, electricity, television, car, wash machine.
- AnthropometricMeasurement techniques used in measuring of height, bodymeasurementcomposition, weight, and BMI.
- Dietary intake Sufficient amount of food intake required to meet the nutrients requirements of an individual or nearly all the people.
- Carbohydrates Class of food used for energy generation: 1 gram of carbohydrate yields 17 KJ which is approximately 4Kcal (calories) of energy.
- Proteins Class of food essential for growth and repair of muscle and other body tissues: 1gram of protein yield 17 KJ which is approximately 4Kcal (calories) of energy.
- Fats Food source of energy, important in relation to fat soluble vitamins and body insulation: 1 gram of fat yields 39KJ (9 Kcal) of energy.
- Underweight <10<sup>th</sup> percentiles estimating adolescent less fat storage, an estimate of adult BMI <18.5.
- Normal weight The  $\geq 10^{\text{th}}$  to  $84^{\text{th}}$  percentiles which are adolescent estimate of normal weight from adult BMI range of 18.5 24.9: An indicator of healthy life of fitness due to less fat stored in the body.
- Overweight The  $>85^{\text{th}}$  to  $95^{\text{th}}$  percentiles which are the adolescents overweight corresponding to adult BMI range of 25.0–29.9. Emerged from excess body stored fat used as an indicator of one becoming obese

[IOTF 2005]

Obesity	The $>95^{\text{th}}$ percentiles which are also the adolescents' obesity
	weight corresponding to adult condition of obesity: Excess stored
	fat due to excess energy.
Adolescent	Person between 10-19 years of age according to WHO
Dietary Intake	Intake of nutrients , minerals and others as derived from food
	intake.
Total energy	Average energy spent by an individual or group in a day or 24h
expenditure (TEE)	period.
Basal metabolic	Minimal rate of energy expenditure necessary for cellular and
rate (BMR)	tissue processes that can maintain life, measured under standard
	conditions of thermoneutrality, immobility, mental relaxation and
	fasting [FAO, 2001]. BMR = EI x PAL
Energy	Balance energy expenditure needed for consistent healthy growth,
requirement (ER)	body size and stature, physical activity, growth development,
	body physiological activities [FAO, 2001].
Physical activity	It is the ratio of EI to BMR (EI: BMR) at the end of 24h.
level (PAL)	PAL = EI/BMR.
Double labeled	Method used to measure TEE of humans characterized by the
water (DLW)	disappearance of doses of $H_2O$ enriched with stable <sup>2</sup> H and <sup>18</sup> O
	isotopes [FAO, 2001].
Heart rate	Average energy spent by an individual or groups obtained from
monitoring (HRM)	the relationship between heart rate and O <sub>2</sub> consumption [FAO,
	2001].
Under-nutrition	Inadequate intake or assimilation of nutrients [Relman 2013]. It
	encompasses both stunting, wasting and deficiency in nutrients.
Wasting stunting	Childhood wasting is an acute malnutrition [Kerac et al 2011]
	which is due to failure to thrive, stature, loss of body weight and
	cell mass [Copeland 1999; Caulfield et al 2006]. Stunting is

chronic under-nutrition that account for retarded linear growth [Caulfield et al 2006]. Wasting occur because of inadequate nutrition over a shorter period. However, underweight encompasses both stunting and wasting [Caulfield et al 2006].

Obesogenic Environment where obesity is easy to develop.

Sedentary lifestyle Lifestyle with very little or low physical activities.

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

Globally over 1.4 billion adults are overweight and among these over 200 million men and 300 million women are obese [WHO 2012; 2013]. In low-income countries more than 115 million people are suffering from overweight and obesity-related problems [WHO 2008]. There is, therefore, likelihood that overweight and obesity might soon overtake underweight and undernutrition in many developing nations [Popkin & Gordon-Larson 2004; Misra and Khurana 2008] because of globalization and economic growth. With this shift, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) suggests that by 2020 two thirds of the people in lowincome countries will be overweight or obese if available preventive measures are not put in place [OECD 2012].

The World Health Organization (WHO) [WHO 2009] has classified overweight and obesity as a risk-factor transition or nutritional transition [Popkin et al 2004]. Reports show that as the development of a country progresses, disease burden shift from being infectious in nature to non-communicable risks of other lifelong threatening diseases, such as diabetes, cancers, and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) [Omran 1971; Reddy et al 2012] in part due to overweight and obesity [Reddy et al 2012]. On the basis of these risk findings the WHO has classified overweight and obesity as one of the world's 10 leading risk factors for disease burden and mortality, as measured by disability-adjusted life years [WHO 2009; Kruger et al 2005]. This disease burden and mortality has been accounted for by the high prevalence of adolescent overweight worldwide and the high proportion of adults developing obesity and its complications [Anounallah-Skhiri et al 2011; Guedes et al 2011].

Overweight, a phenomenon that was once a problem common to high-income countries is now slowly engulfing urban adolescents of low- and middle-income countries, especially South African adolescents [Steyn et al 2005]. The increasing prevalence may be the result of changing lifestyles and dietary intake among adolescents [Steyn et al 2005].

Currently, Africa has the fastest growing childhood overweight rate in the world – where the rate of obesity among children in 2010 was more than double that of 1990 [de Onis et al 2010; Rossouw et al 2012], with South Africa having one of the highest rates in Africa [Steyn et al 2006; Reddy et al 2008; Rossouw et al 2012]. Reports by Mendez et al [2005] show that young women residing in both urban and rural areas of low-income countries have a compelling high prevalence of overweight when compared to high-come countries. This high prevalence is well pronounced in countries with advanced socioeconomic development including South Africa and Brazil [Kruger et al 2005; Guedes et al 2011]. Studies by Toriola et al [2012] confirm a high overweight prevalence among South African children in both urban and rural settings. However, such data, even within urban settings, is inadequate to assess the level of overweight and its consequences among adolescents, especially in countries with a fast developing economy such as South Africa. Furthermore, there is limited data that associates dietary intake and overweight in most settings in South Africa. There is therefore an urgent need to address overweight in adolescents in these settings, with a focus on the dietary intake. The current study uses Birth to Twenty (BT20) data to examine the association between dietary intake (energy, carbohydrate, protein and fat) and overweight status of 17-year old adolescents residing in Soweto, South Africa, in 2007/2008.

# 1.1. Background information

The body mass index (BMI), which is an index of overweight estimation, is calculated by weight (kg) / height (m<sup>2</sup>) [Hu 2008]. Based on this calculation, WHO estimates the prevalence of obesity at 4.8% and 20.4% in low- and upper-income countries respectively [Guedes et al 2011].

2

In middle-income countries undergoing rapid economic transition such as South Africa, China and Brazil obesity is estimated at 17.1% in children [Kruger et al 2005; Guedes et al 2011] with South African estimates at 29 % for men and 56% for women [Puoane et al 2002]. Reports from the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) and Global Burden of Diseases of 2002 show the mean BMI of South Africans for males and females as shown in Table 1 [Goedecke et al 2005]. However, the current data from the South African National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (SANHANES-1) estimates the mean BMI for South African adolescent 15-17 years of age at 20.5% for males and 23 % for females. Those within the age range of 18-24 years were 21.1% for males and 26.2% for females [Shisana et al 2013].

Age (yrs)	Males	Females
	BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$BMI(kg/m^2)$
5-14	13.8	14
15-29	21.5	24.4
≥30	24.2	>28.8

Table 1: Body mass Index (BMI) category by age group among South Africans

Estimates from the National Household Food Consumption Survey show that 17.1% of urban South African children below nine years are overweight [Steyn et al 2005] and that this rate varies from province to province [Goedecke et al 2005]. Other reports from the South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) indicate more overweight and obese girls (25%) than boys (7%) aged 13-19 years [Goedecke et al 2005]. This high prevalence, according to reports by du Toit [2010], indicates that "South African families do not know what their children eat during the day", which could be one of the likely contributing factors. Within the last decade, the prevalence of overweight and obesity among South African adolescents has increased rapidly [Reddy et al 2012]. Data from the South African National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey in 2002 and 2008 showed increased rates of overweight among adolescent boys and girls, from 6.3% in 2002 to 11.0% in 2008 and from 24.3% to 29.0%, respectively [Reddy et al 2012]. Other data from the International Association for the Study of Obesity in 2011 estimated obesity among boys aged 5-17 years in South Africa at 13.6% and girls at 17.7% [OECD, 2012]. Even though reasons for such high rates were not given, other reports have speculated that high rates can be partly attributed to poor eating habits, which increase with age [Feeley et al 2012], and less physical activity among South African adolescents [Vidulich et al 2006].

Previous research has shown that dietary intake, levels of activity, meal patterns, genetics, ethnicity, hormonal, psychological and sociological factors can influence the risk of overweight/obesity [Kruger et al 2005; Reddy et al 2008; Feeley et al 2011; Guedes et al 2011]. These risk factors can have both physical and psychological effects. The physical effects are similar to those seen in adulthood and have been highly associated with chronic diseases and other metabolic risk factors [Steyn et al 2006; Joubert et al 2007; Mayosi et al 2009].

Dietary habits and eating practices go with lifestyle and determine dietary intake, which is the consumption of nutrients (carbohydrates, fat, proteins etc) to generate energy (kJ) [FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Institute of Medicine 2005]. Dietary intake that generates body energy higher than body energy expenditure increases body weight [Reddy et al 2008]. Increase in body weight is due to the fact that the excess non-expended energy derived from the diet will be stored as excess fat in the body [Flatt 1995; Goedecke et al 2005]. This set of conditions increases the body weight and causes overweight and obesity, that predisposed individuals to diabetes and other non-communicable diseases (NCDs). These diseases are highly associated with high rates of morbidity and mortality during childhood and adulthood [Reddy et al 2008; Rossouw et al 2012]. It has been shown that the complications of being overweight emerge as a result of a changing behavioural lifestyle that starts at early ages and can be tracked from adolescents into adulthood [Jolliffe & Janssen 2006; Wilkinson & McCargar 2008; Rossouw et al 2012]. The early detection of overweight should therefore be emphasised because of its potential to decrease risk and complications. Factors such as lack of access to safe and nutritious food, inconsistent access to healthy food such as fruits and vegetables and reduced physical exercise also account for early adolescent overweight [Bellows & Moore 2013]. Although reports by Wilkinson & McCargar [2008] show no association between physical activity and overweight, some early findings establish a strong association between television watching, sedentary behavioural activities and energy expenditure [Buchowski and Sun 1996].

The report of the Department of Health (DOH) in 2008 shows that malnutrition in South African children is marked by both under-nutrition and over-nutrition, leading to either stunted growth (retarded or reduced linear growth rate) and/or overweight respectively [Goedecke et al 2005]. There is strong evidence that nutritionally stunted children have an increased risk (80%) of overweight [Steyn et al 2005] later in life, but the underlying mechanisms are still unknown [Haffman et al 2000]. However, according to Haffman et al [2000] stunting in children could be due to impairment of fat oxidation arising from a low metabolic rate with normal resting energy expenditure.

Although stunting coexists with overweight, which is a common phenomenon among children in low-income countries, other studies have shown that stunting is a pressing issue of hunger and under-nutrition [Armstrong et al 2011]. Twenty per cent to 25% of preschoolers in sub-Saharan countries are underweight [United Nations, 2012]. The prevalence of stunting in South Africa ranges from 23% to 30% [Steyn et al 2001; Kruger et al 2005] while that of obesity

is greater than 17% [Goedecke et al 2005]. In South Africa stunting and overweight have been observed to occur both in the same household and have been indicated as a significant public health burden [Jinabhai et al 2003; Mamabolo et al 2005].

Studies have shown that as the prevalence of overweight continues to increase over time, other risks such as high blood pressure, sleeping and breathing problems such as snoring (sleep apnea) and hormone imbalances also emerge [Han et al 2010; Steyn et al 2006; Joubert et al 2007; Mayosi et al 2009]. Other studies have shown that 70% of obese children with high cholesterol and hypertension are at risk of developing cardiovascular disease [Freedman et al 2007]. Also increased risk of impaired glucose tolerance – a common phenomenon exhibited by those with type 2 diabetes due to insulin resistance – is a characteristic frequently seen in childhood obesity [Whitlock et al 2005]. Overweight and obese adolescents are more likely to develop severe complications (especially coronary heart diseases and diabetes mellitus) during adulthood compared to non-obese children in childhood [Freedman et al 2001].

Furthermore, apart from health consequences, obese individuals often suffer from social and psychological consequences such as low self-esteem, depression and structurally from stigma and discrimination [WHO, 2000; Kruger et al 2005], which have a very significant impact both on health and the economy.

# **1.2 Statement of problem**

Research have shown that adolescents suffer from a wide range of overweight and obese related diseases and overweight/obesity related disease have far reaching implications for communicable and NCDs in adolescence [Steyn et al 2006; Joubert et al 2007]. Since 2000, the prevalence of overweight and obesity in South Africa and other low-income countries has remarkably increased among adolescents [Hedley et al 2004; Steyn et al 2005]. However, with

the rapid nutritional transition and urbanization of Soweto and lifestyle changes since 1994, has severely affected the adolescents population, with high overweight/obesity. Because of the importance of overweight and obesity in public health, the trends in adolescence should be closely monitored among Soweto adolescents in order to prevent the likelihood complications at adulthood.

#### 1.3 Justification for the study

Overweight continues to be a major indicator of adulthood non-communicable diseases (NCDs) risk and can be linked to early childhood and adolescent dietary lifestyles [Puoane et al 2002]. Most NCD risk in adulthood can be traced to early childhood risky behaviours and adolescent risky behaviours. Research shows that the burden of childhood OW and adolescent OW in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), and especially in South Africa, is rising. Studies by Reddy et al [2012] show an increasing trend of overweight among youth in all races in South African. An earlier report by Steyn et al [2005] indicates that by virtue of the South Africa economy and its rapid demographic and nutritional transition, South African adolescent dietary lifestyle has changed drastically resulting in high risk overweight/obesity related diseases.

South Africa chronic diseases especially overweight/obesity related account for more than one-third of chronic diseases according to disability adjusted life years (DALYs) in 2000 [Norman et al 2006]. Despite the overweight/obesity related disease challenges faced by the South African health systems, new policies and programmes have been initiated with support from health organizations such as the Association for Dietetics in South Africa (ADSA), the Nutrition Society of South Africa (NNSA) and the Consumer Goods Council of South [SAHSF 2014]. For example the cooperation between the Department of Health (DOH) and other departments have map out some food policy such as the reduction of high salt intake in bread, margarine and other food sources which has enlightened the public on the consequences of high salt intake in food[SAHSF 2014]. Report from the South African Heart and Stroke Foundation (SAHSF) shows that 80% of NCDs relating to overweight/obesity and high salt in food can be prevented through modified behavioural life styles [SAHSF 2014]. Therefore, this has prompted the DOH in exploiting legal methods with stake holders on the possibilities of legislative lowering of salt in South African commercial foods [Bertram et al 2012; SAHSF 2014].

Since overweight and its related consequences are difficult to treat, the need for early prevention intervention in childhood and adolescence is important. Early detection and control are necessary to prevent further consequences. Therefore, the current data obtained from BT20 cohort for this study was used to investigate the relationship between dietary intake and overweight among 17-year-old adolescents. A guide for future hypotheses and health planning of adolescent overweight prevention intervention. The study will highlight the need for a nutritional programme focusing on good eating practices and a healthy lifestyle among adolescents [Rudolf 2009]. This include

- behavioral-base weight-management interventions among adolescents in Soweto
- a guide to influence policy for parents toward their children's dietary intake and lifestyle.

#### **2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW**

In African countries policies concerning the awareness of overweight and obesity are limited. The policies are weak or do not exist at all. However, in some high-income countries, overweight and obesity rates have been slowed down during the past three decades because of polices formulated to tackle the root causes of overweight and obesity [OECD 2012]. Some of these policies include high taxes on food rich in fat, sugar, soft drinks with artificial sweeteners, biscuits, pastries and salt, as well as restrictions on their consumption. Countries such as Denmark, France, Finland and Hungary have instituted such laws [OECD 2012].

The problem in Africa is that most African governments have not realised the health consequences and burdens arising from overweight and obesity. For example, reports compiled by Bamidele et al [2011] from Nigeria see under nutrition as a major problem among adolescence with overweight and obesity yet a considered problem. In South Africa the problems of overweight and obesity are currently under study with very limited information addressing the burden [Steyn et al 2001; Goedecke et al 2005]. Based on the current SANHANES-1 study the prevalence of overweight generally among South African is steadily increasing (Shisana et al 2013). According to report by OECD (2012) dietary intakes which generate energy above the body requirement if not utilized will accumulate as fat, increasing the likelihood of developing overweight. Being overweight in adolescence is causing a likelihood of persistence adulthood overweight unless measures are taken to control weight loss [NIH 2005].

#### 2.1 Dietary intake (Diet)

Generally, dietary intake is the average daily intake of foods comprising of micronutrients (vitamins and minerals) and macronutrients (carbohydrates, fat, protein) and other classes of foods to provide energy, growth and proper functioning of the body [Taylor et al 2002; Steyn et al 2006].

Globally unhealthy dietary intake is a common phenomenon among adolescents. In lowincome countries, adolescents display unhealthy diets and lifestyles that can lead to under nutrition or overweight and obesity [Aounallah-Skhiri et al 2011]. These unhealthy diets can result from insufficient or unbalanced nutrients that do not meet the recommended daily intake. In South Africa most diets are frequently deficient in minerals and vitamins such as calcium, iron, potassium, vitamin B6, niacin, folate and other essential vitamins [Steyn et al 2006], because South Africans tend to consume high energy-dense foods with a high level of saturated fat, carbohydrates, cholesterol and fibre, which have limited necessary minerals for growth [Goedecke et al 2005; Steyn et al 2005; Steyn & Nel 2006]. Among these food types, the most averagely consumed are maize porridge, bread, sugar, tea, coffee, margarine and milk [Steyn & Nel 2006].

According to the WHO, a daily allowance of less than 10% of energy for saturated fat, polysaturated fat 6-10%, carbohydrate 55-75%, protein 10-15% and fibre 25g and sodium not more than 2g per day is recommended [Steyn & Nel 2006]. Approximately about 400-500g of fruits and vegetables are recommended to prevent CVD, stroke and hypertension (WHO 2007). Micronutrient deficiencies such as iron, vitamin A, iodine, and zinc among adolescent account for devastating effects including the impairment of growth, impairment of the immune function and thus risk related mortality from NCDs and infectious diseases [Bundy et al 2006].

#### 2.1.1 The energy needs of the adolescent

Energy by definition is the capacity to do work (Scott, 2005) or a change due to growing tissues synthesis of which excess is generated and dissipated as body heat (FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Scott 2005). In humans energy synthesised from food substances (especially fat and protein, and carbohydrate, other macronutrients and micronutrients) can be used for growth, deposited and stored as fat in tissues, or generated and dissipated as heat [Story and Stang 2005].

This energy known as the total energy expenditure (TEE) is the sum of "*basal energy expenditure, thermic effect of food, physical activity, thermoregulation, and the energy expended in depositing new tissues and in producing milk*" [ADA 2013]. TEE which describes the energy spent by an individual or groups in an average 24-hour period [Black, 2000; FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Samuel-Hodge et al 2004; Torun 2005; Tooze et al 2011].

In adolescents, because of their puberty characteristics the TEE is influenced by rapid growth rate, body composition and their reproductive system [Butte et al 2012]. It is actually during this period that females acquire 12% of adult stature and 36% of adult weight while the males tend to acquire 20% of adult stature and 50% of adult weight (Butte et al 2012). This shows that adolescent dietary energy requirements to support a healthy system, growth, maturation and other activities such as physical activities must be high enough to support this transformation to the adult age. According to Story and Stang [2005], it is actually during adolescence that total nutrients requirements are higher than at any other time in the life cycle, and failure in acquiring the right nutrients during this period can lead to delayed sexual maturation, slow linear growth and other complications [Story and Stang 2005].

Studies have shown that in a day (24 hours) the TEE, which is expressed as a multiple of basal metabolic rate (BMR), accounts for the energy used to maintain life. This is because TEE are very costly to measure and BMR are therefore used as proximate measure of TEE. On the basis of this the Schofield equations have been developed by the WHO for estimating BMR after accounting for sex, age and body weight[Schofield 1985, Butte et al 2012] as shown in any of the equations in Table 2. Body weight and age are the main necessary determinants of energy expenditure of healthy subjects since sex and age seem to report normal body compositions, which have been shown to correlate highly at childhood and adolescence [Torun 2005].

Male: 10 to 18 years of age	Female: 10 to 18 years of age
BMR (MJ/day) = $(0.074 \text{ x body weight } [kg]) +$	BMR $(MJ/day) = (0.056 \text{ x body weight } [kg]) +$
2.754 eqn (1)	2.898eqn (3)
BMR (kcal/day) = (17.69 x body weight [kg])	BMR (kcal/day) = (13.38 x body weight [kg])
+ 658 eqn (2)	+ 693 eqn (4).

Table 2: WHO estimate of BMR as derived from Schofield equations

In this case the ratio EI to BMR (EI: BMR) can be used to define cut-off values of under reported energy intake derived from the Goldberg equation [Black 2000]. Since TEE comprises multiples of BMR, the ratio of EI to BMR is known as "physical activities level" (PAL), where EI is the product of PAL and BMR (PAL x BMR) [Samuel-Hodge et al 2004]. Therefore, under reported energy intake can be redefined as EI < (BMR x PAL) or a ratio of EI: (BMR x PAL) less than one [Samuel-Hodge et al 2004].

On the basis of this information, equation 5 can also be used to determine the lower- and upper cut-off limits of reported energy intake [Goldberg & Black 1998; Black 2000].

Where PAL = Physical activity level

SD = -2 for lower and +2 for upper limit 95% CI or -3 for lower and +3 for upper limits 99% CI

n= number of subjects

S = Overall CV (Confident variation) for PAL, taking into account the variability in energy intake and BMR [Black 2000].

Which is given by the equation

$$\mathbf{S} = \sqrt{[\mathbf{CV}_{rw}^2/\mathbf{K} + \mathbf{CV}_B^2 + \mathbf{CV}_P^2]}$$

 $CV_{rw}^2$  = within individual variation in energy intake

 $CV_B^2$  = the variation in repeated BMR measurement or precision of estimated and measured BMR [Black 2000].

 $CV_{P}^{2}$  = The between subject variation in PAL

The energy requirement (ER) of adolescents, therefore, can be calculated from energy expenditure and the energy for growth (tissue synthesis and energy deposited in term of fat in theses tissues) [Torun 2005]. With this idea, the energy deposited in tissues that are used as an index of determining overweight and likely obesity is shown in equations 6 and 7.

Energy requirement (ER) = energy expenditure + energy used synthesizing tissues + energy

deposited as fat in tissues ... .....eqn (6)

## Therefore,

Energy deposited as fat in tissues = ER- [energy expenditure + energy used synthesizing tissues] ... eqn (7)

The energy intake in this case exceeds energy expenditure [Krebs et al 2007]. The energy is therefore deposited as fat in tissues and this is excess energy obtained from protein, fat and carbohydrates [Krebs et al 2007]. This stored energy varies among individuals, depending also on the PAL, growth rates and health of the subject. With normal growth weight gain in an adolescent does not change much with the amount of energy stored in terms of fat (negligible and approximately 1%) compared to the total energy requirement. Therefore it is assumed that the body weight gain during this period is relatively constant [Black 2000; Torun 2005]. This concept of energy is known as energy balance because no weight loss or gain occurs. The energy requirement in this case can be adjusted as:

Energy intake (EI) = Total energy expenditure (TEE). ..... eqn (8)

Indicating that the ratio of EI to TEE (EI:TEE=1) will be equal to one.

In this case the TEE for an adolescent will be based on the dietary estimated energy requirements (EER) predicted from age, height, weight, growth factor and physical activity (IOM 2002; Butte et al 2012) as shown in equations 9 and 10 below, which refer to childhood.

For boys 9-18 years:

EER (kcal/d) = 88.5 - 61.9 x Age [y] + PA x (26.7 x Weight [kg] + 903 x Height [m]) + 25 (Growth Factor)... ... eqn (9) This EER occurs when:

PA = 1.00 if sedentary (PAL  $\geq$ 1.0 and <1.4); PA = 1.13 if low active (PAL  $\geq$ 1.4 and <1.6); PA = 1.26 if active (PAL  $\geq$  1.6 and <1.9); and PA = 1.42 if very active (PAL  $\geq$ 1.9 and <2.5)

For girls 9 through 18 years:

EER (kcal/d) = 135.3 - 30.8 x Age [y] + PA x (10.0 x Weight [kg] + 934 x Height [m]) + 25 (Growth Factor)... ... eqn (10)

This EER occurs when:

PA = 1.00 if sedentary (PAL  $\ge 1.0$  and < 1.4); PA = 1.16 if low active (PAL  $\ge 1.4$  and < 1.6); PA

= 1.31 if active (PAL  $\geq$ 1.6 and <1.9) and PA = 1.56 if very active (PAL  $\geq$ 1.9 and <2.5)

Therefore, if the EI is less than TEE (EI<TEE), the implication is that the ratio of EI to TEE will be less than one and there will be some form of energy underreporting [Samuel-Hodge et al 2004] where the TEE is measured from doubly labelled water (DLW) [Samuel-Hodge et al 2004; Tooze et al 2012]. The ratio of EI to TEE can be used to validate cut-off values for underreporting of energy intake. According to Samuel-Hodge et al [2004], the ratio of defining EI to TEE for under reporting is approximately less than 0.79 (<0.79) at 95% confidence interval with TEE measured using DLW.

Apart from using EER to estimate TEE, the quadratic polynomial regression equations can be used to predict TEE for adolescent boys and girls per day at constant age as shown in equations 10 and 11[FAO 2001; Torun 2005]. From these equations, the average daily recommended dietary reference of energy intake was found to range from 97% - 98% in all healthy specific age groups [Story and Stang 2005]. On the basis of the quadratic regression analyses the WHO estimated the standard daily recommended average energy requirement (KJ/day) on weight for "adolescent males aged 17-18 years at 14322 KJ/day and females at 10513 KJ/day" [FAO/WHO/UNU 2001] while the "TEE for males aged 17-18 years at 14263 KJ/day and females 10513 KJ/day", as shown in Table 3.

Table 3: The daily energy requirement as derived from quadratic regressions according to FAO/WHO/UNU (2001)

Age	Male		Female		
	Daily energy	TEE(KJ/day)	Daily energy	TEE(KJ/day)	
	requirement (KJ/day)		requirement(KJ/day)		
14-15	12558	12419	10286	10206	
15-16	13348	13221	10462	10408	
16-17	13952	13856	10513	10496	
17-18	14322	14263	10513	10513	

**Note:** 1Kcal = 4.184KJ (4.2KJ) [FAO/WHO Handbook on human nutritional requirements 1974].

Other reports by Story and Stang [2005] also indicate the KJ/day on weight as calculated from the quadratic regression analyses for females aged 14-18 years at 13238 KJ/day and 19-30 year-old females at 10093 KJ/day while that for males 14-18 years is estimated at 13238KJ/day and 19-30 year-old males at 12881 KJ/day. According to FAO/WHO/UNU [2001] and Torun [2005]

weight is regarded is regarded a major factor of TEE when compared to age because the exclusion of age from the model equation does not increase the error estimates [Torun, 2001].

For boys

$$TEE(MJ/day) = 1.298 + 0.265kg - .00011kg^2 \dots eqn (11):$$

 $n_{\text{weighted}} = 801$ ; r = 0.982,  $r^2 = 0.964$  and see = 0.518

For girls

 $TEE(MJ/day) = 1.102 + 0.273 kg - .00019 kg^2 \dots eqn (12)$ 

 $n_{weighted} = 808$ ; r = 0.955,  $r^2 = 0.913$  and see = 0,650

Where : MJ = mega joule, r = correlation coefficient,  $r^2 = coefficient$  of determination.  $n_{weighted} = sample size$ , see = standard error of the estimate of the quadratic equations [Torun, 2001].

## 2.1.2 Protein need of adolescents

Protein and amino acids of adolescents vary between 10%-30% of energy need, but it is highly influenced by the amount required by the body for growth and maintenance [FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Story and Stang 2005]. Protein apart from being the essential building component of the body system, they equally act as fuel or energy supplier when carbohydrates and lipid are low in the body[FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Story and Stang 2005]. Females require high protein intake for unit increase in height as from 11 years while males from 15 years [Story and Stang 2005]. The recommended daily intake (RDI; nutrient sufficient to meet the requirements 97–98% of healthy individuals) of protein by adolescent at 14-18 years of age for body growth is approximately 52g/d for boys and 46g/d for girls [FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Story

and Stang 2005]. Protein intake lower than the RDI may result in retardation in linear growth and sexual maturity [Story and Stang 2005]

#### 2.1.3 Carbohydrate need of adolescents

Carbohydrates account for more than 50% - 60% of the daily body energy [Tarnopolsky 2003; Story and Stang 2005] and according to the WHO the RDI for adolescent aged 14-18 years for both boys and girls is 130g/d [FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Story and Stang 2005]. An excess amount above the RDI may be stored as fat.

#### 2.1.4 Fat need of adolescents

Fat is the main source of diet for insulation, growth and development and accounts for more than 30% of calorie intake [Story and Stang 2005]. The acceptable macronutrient distribution ranges (AMDR) among adolescents aged 14-18 years vary according to the type of fat from 25% - 35%. Table 4 shows the WHO recommended daily requirement for carbohydrate, protein and fat g/day for adolescents [FAO/WHO/UNU 2001].

Age	ge Male-recommended oup requirement		led Female-recommended			
group			requirement			
	Carbohydrate	Protein	Fat	Carbohydrate	Protein	Fat
9-12	130	34	12	130	46	11
14-18*	130	52	16	130	46	12
19-30	130	56	17	130	46	12

Table 4: Daily recommended requirement for carbohydrate, protein and fat g/day for adolescents

Key: 14-18\* =17 years adolescent recommended daily macronutrients requirement is within this range according to FAO/WHO/UNU 2001

## 2.2 Dietary assessment methods

Food intake depends on individual access to food and how safe and nutritious the food is to meet the dietary preferences [FAO 1998]. The dietary assessment can be classified into two major categories: retrospective reporting of intake (dietary history, 24-hour recall, and food frequency) and current or prospective recording of consumption (dietary records, weighed intake) [Ferro-Luzzi 2001; Wireden et al 2003; Thompson & Subar 2008]. Generally the method to be employed depends on the population to be sampled, study participants, researcher skills, resources, respondent burden and study objectives [Willet 1990].

#### 2.2.1 Diet history (retrospective method)

Diet history, a retrospective method assesses individual diet intake by asking the respondent to self report through interview led about the past diet [Thompson & Subar 2008]. Diet history collects information from individuals about the type and the preparation of the food, frequency of intake of the various foods and the composition of the foods [van Beresteyn et al 1987; Bloemberg et al 1989]. The detailed assessment of the meal preparation (fried, baked, boiled etc.) gives better understanding of the food [Thompson & Subar 2008]. The diet history is usually referred to as the Burke "diet history" because it was originally developed by Burke. At times diet history overlaps with 24-hour recall diet assessment.

The setbacks involve the effort and expert difficulties in capturing and coding of information if diet history is led by an interviewer. However, self-administered automated diet history instruments are currently available [Bloemberg et al 1989; Kohlmeier] but limited accessibility and the problems of validation and calibrations exist. The validity of a diet history approach, according to Thompson and Subar [2008], is difficult because of the lack of accurate independent knowledge, especially on long-term intake. Therefore, intake is often misreported. In most cases nutrient intake from diet history is usually higher than the standard estimates [van Liere et al 1997].

#### 2.2.2 Twenty four (24)-hour recall (retrospective method)

Here the respondent is asked to provide detailed information on foods and drinks consumed over a 24-hour period [Thompson & Subar 2008]. Twenty-four hour recall usually requires low respondent burden, which is very convenient in large-scale surveys [Thompson & Subar 2008; Wrienden et al 2003]. However, the problems encountered are the estimation of the portion sizes consumed, bias in recording, poor memory dependence, the inability to provide accurate measurement of individual intake [Wrienden et al 2003; Thompson & Subar 2008].

Some of the 24-hour recall limitations have been improved by the multiple pass 24-hour recall, which is mainly used to asses diet and nutrition in large studies (e.g National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey). The multiple pass 24-hour recall diet focuses on the food consumed over a period of 3-5 days during which the participant is asked to recall and describe everything consumed in the 24 hours prior to the interview [Wrienden et al 2003; Thompson & Subar 2008]. Being a staged approach, the multiple pass 24-hour recall diet has been used to improve precision with 24-hour recall and minimises under-reporting and increases reliability [Wrienden et al 2003]. The 24-hour recall has been applied in a South African setting by Wolmarans et al [1988], Steyn et al [1993] and MacIntyre et al [2002] to assess dietary intake among adolescents.

## 2.2.3 Weighed food records (Prospective)

This method involves the individual or investigator in weighing the food or drink prior to consumption and proper recordings being made, even of the leftovers. The process can be recorded up to 7 days [Wrienden et al 2003]. The method gives precisely sized portions, does not require recall of the food eaten or quantified intake and also gives self-monitoring of one's weight and control. The method is rarely used in the South African setting. It involves high

investigator cost, high respondent burden and misreporting [Wrienden et al 2003; Thompson & Subar 2008].

Similar to weighed food records is the estimated food record, which uses household measures such as spoons, cups and food photographs to quantify the food. This weighed food records technique may give poor estimation of the portion sizes [Wrienden et al 2003].

#### 2.2.4 Food frequency questionnaires (FFQ) (Retrospective method)

The FFQ is a method used by respondents to ask and report the frequency of each food consumed from a list of foods at a specific period of time [Thompson & Subar 2008]. The method is very suitable for large-scale surveys and can be self-completed and posted; in this way there is a low investigator cost. The underlining principle of FFQs is usually to obtain information about the whole diet consumed, of which a broad range of nutrients can then be estimated [Crozier et al 2010] or an aspect of the diet of interest [Severo et al 2009]. The overall nutrient intake is usually derived by summing all the products of each reported food according to the specific nutrient in the food type to estimate the daily nutrient intake [Thompson & Subar 2008].

However, the FFQ can be faulted by over reporting (intake misreported) and the estimated food portion sizes not being precisely quantifiable and therefore require validation [Wrienden et al 2003; Thompson & Subar 2008]. At times the cognitive task for the participants may not be possible [Thompson & Subar 2008]. The FFQs have been used to determine dietary intake in South African populations by Steyn et al [2006] and MacIntyre et al [2002]. Earlier reports by MacIntyre et al [2000] showed FFQ as a reproducible and valid tool in an African population. The method when compared to others is widely used to assess dietary intake in
adolescents in South Africa and elsewhere [Rockett et al 1995; Frost et al 1995; Tur et al 2004; Zingoni et al 2009].

## 2.3 Overweight and Obesity

Overweight/obesity according to the OECD [2011] is an abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair health and present health risks. The difficulty faced in assessing the impact of overweight and obesity is how to estimate the impact. BMI and percentiles are some epidemiological surrogate measures used to estimate body total fat [Cornier et al 2002]. The BMI [weight (kg)/height<sup>2</sup> (m) = kg/m<sup>2</sup>] is the most commonly used and widely accepted measure of overweight in adults (>25kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and obesity (>30kg/m<sup>2</sup>) [Cole et al 2000]. This method is simple and gives a very quick snapshot for both children and adults by assessing and classifying the body weight (underweight, normal, overweight or obese). However, BMI is a surrogate measure of body fatness because it does not differentiate fat mass from other body-internal components, such as the distribution of body fat, water, muscle, and skeletal weight [Ayvaz & Çimen 2011]. Apparently BMI can be influenced by age, sex, ethnicity [Piccoli et al 2002].

Childhood overweight and obesity is surprisingly difficult to define. Cole et al [2000] propose another method for estimating overweight and obesity in childhood, based on pooled international data for BMI that can be linked to a wide adult obesity cut-off point of 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Furthermore, Cole et al [2000] suggest the 95th centile (percentile) of the United States BMI reference as the proposed cut-off point for childhood obesity. The definition is less internationally recognised than others. However, the definition can be used as a direct comparison of trends in childhood obesity worldwide [Cole et al 2000]. Table 5 shows the cut offs of adolescent BMI according to Brettschneider et al [2011].

21

The International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) cut offs are used to determine overweight (> 84th percentiles) and obesity (>95th percentiles) among adolescents, which corresponds to adult definitions of overweight and obesity. Adolescent BMI is interpreted relative to age and sex, because body fat changes within children and adolescents according to age and varies by sex. Therefore, the percentiles specific to age and sex classified as underweight (< 10th percentiles), normal weight (> 10 percentiles-84th percentiles), overweight (>84th percentiles-95th percentiles) and obesity (>95th percentiles) are used. This age-determined BMI is relative to the position of the adolescent BMI value among adolescents of the same sex and age [Dietz & Robinson 1998; Cole et al 2000; IOTF 2005; Brettschneider et al 2011] as shown in Table 5. Table 5 shows the general adolescents and adult cut-off BMI as a measure of underweight, normal, overweigh and obesity according to WHO [2000].

Adolescent and children	Adult BMI cu	t off	
Centile (percentile)	Cut-off BMI	Adult BMI	Adult Status
Lower (thin)	$< 10^{th}$	Below 18.5	Underweight
Normal	$\geq 10^{th}$ to $84^{th}$	18.5 – 24.9	Normal
Over weight	$>84^{th}$ to $95^{th}$	25.0 - 29.9	Overweight
Obese	>95 <sup>th</sup>	30.0 and	Obese
		Above	

Table 5: Percentile cut-off point for adolescents and adult BMI cut off.

Another body composition method for estimating body fat for BMI determination is the dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry scans (DXA), which both accurately measures the bone mineral density as well as estimates fat-free mass and fat mass [Sjostrom, 1993; Kelly et al 2009; Flegal et al 2011; Micklesfield et al 2012]. This comparison method has been used in detail to estimate the subcutaneous visceral adipose tissue fat in the abdominal cavity, which is highly

associated with BMI, obesity and obesity-related diseases [Sjostrom, 1993; Micklesfield et al 2012]. Therefore, DXA can accurately and precisely measure the whole body and regional distribution of fat and lean tissue. The limitation in clinical medicine research is the cost and the time required for MRI acquisition and image analysis [Schoeller et al 2005; Micklesfield et al 2012]. The DXA scanning measures and can correctly estimate the body fatness in children who are overweight and obese. Furthermore, according to Flegal et al (2011), the BMI obtained from DXA correlates closely with total body fat. However, it is not a precise measure of fatness. The greatest problem with both methods is that neither BMI nor measures of adiposity have been associated with clinical outcomes.

#### 2.4 Factors related to overweight

#### 2.4.1 Genetic factors relating to overweight

Vertical genetic traits have been shown to be associated with an increase in an individual's susceptibility to excess body weight [Chagnon et al 2002; Bellows & Moore 2013]. According to Crowther [2009], these genetic traits can influence the BMI by affecting energy balance mechanisms. It has been shown that more than 300 genes, markers, and chromosomal regions coding for various proteins are associated with varied human obesity phenotypes [Chagnon et al 2002] and up to 30%-70% of the variance genes for BMI in humans can be determined by genetic factors [Loos & Bouchard, 2003]. Naturally the derivable calculation of BMI, height and weight are a heritable trait located in loci.

According to reports by Lee (2009), obesity is a multi-factorial disorder with several heritable traits developed as a result of long-time interaction between the "*obesogenic*" environment and the individual gene susceptible to excess overweight. Therefore, the predominant severe monogenic human obesity has been shown to be a long-time disruption of

the leptin (a hormone that regulates energy intake and energy expenditure homeostasis) melanocortin pathway [Farooqi, 2005; Coll et al 2007]. The leptin-melanocortin pathway plays a major role in the understanding of the weight gain mechanism and obesity disease. Leptin therapies can reduce energy intake that introduces energy imbalance [Farooqi, 2005 Coll et al 2007]. Also the gene that regulates fat has been established and indicates that individual ability to store excess fat and become susceptible to overweight is genetically regulated. Reports by Farooqi [2005], show that these genes have been dormant in low-income populations for a long time and incidence has recently increased as a result of changing environmental and lifestyle behaviour. Therefore, genes and behaviour seem to correlate before a person becomes susceptible to overweight, obesity and their complications. For genes to become a risk factor for obesity, other factors such as intake of high-energy dense foods low in vitamins and micronutrients in combination with other factors such as environmental and SES must play a significant role. Therefore, overweight and obesity are complex phenotypic characteristics due to biological and environmental factors acquisitions.

Furthermore, it has been shown that obesity risk is more likely in individuals from families with a long obesity history than with families without this obesity history [Pinhas-Hamiel et al 1996; Comuzzie, 2002; Farooqi, 2005]. Therefore, the possibility of identifying overweight adolescents equally according to high-risk family history is necessary in diagnosis [Pinhas-Hamiel et al 1996]. However, the mechanisms through which overweight develops have not been fully understood because of its complex multi-factorial disease outcomes, although those with a risk of developing obesity can provide insight to mechanism therapies [Davison & Birch 2001].

#### 2.4.2 Socioeconomic factors relating to overweight

Socioeconomic status (SES) factors have been found to be associated with dietary intake, overweight and obesity [Gordon-Larsen et al 2003]. These factors include level of education, home type, own home, having a telephone, water use, water type, toilet use, toilet type, electricity, owing a television or a car or a washing machine, etc. In South Africa, the black and 'coloured' (descendants from mixed white and black origin) adolescents have higher rates of underweight and overweight than their white counterparts, which has been linked to SES factors [Gordon-Larsen et al 2003; Reddy et al 2008]. Acculturation of the white girls have pressured them to be thin, while a positive social value have made black South African girls to be large for culture-related reasons [Pouane et al 2002; Monyeki et al 2008; Crowther, 2009].

Overweight and obesity among South Africans adolescents has been found to be associated with social and economic factors. Overweight adolescents, especially females, are less likely to be married [Gortmaker et al 1993; Goedecke et al 2005], likely to have a lower household income and higher poverty rate when compared to their normal-weight peers [Goedecke et al 2005]. However, Guedes et al [2011] found some interesting associations between overweight and obesity among Brazilian adolescents. The prevalence of overweight and obesity among Brazilian adolescents is gradually increasing in accordance with higher SES compared to South African adolescents [Goedecke et al 2005]. Brazilian families with a higher SES demonstrate tenfold higher odds of being overweight and obese compared to adolescents from a lower socioeconomic class [Guedes et al 2011]. This finding is different from those from other developing countries where it is assumed that adolescents having a lower SES because of their low income are more likely to engage in eating higher-density energy foods that are cheaper and easier to access (such as carbohydrates) than nutritive foods rich in vitamins and micronutrients consumed by families with a higher SES [Guedes et al 2011]. For South Africa this is not true because of the mixed culture population, better economic shift and changing lifestyles among adolescents, which leads to under nutrition and over nutrition at the same time [Rossouw et al 2012; Reddy et al 2012].

The level of physical inactivity among adolescents is increasing contributing to the increasing prevalence of overweight and obesity[Micklesfield et al 2014]. The prevalence of physical inactivity, has been estimated at 43%–49% among South Africans adolescents age 15 years and older [Joubert et al 2007] when compared to other African countries adolescents between 13 and 15 years of age who are 50% physically active [Peltzer 2009]. The increasing overweight/obesity epidemic among South African adolescent is not only envisage in Urban areas. Rural South African adolescents equally undergo physical inactivity [Cook et al 2010].

A recent study among adolescents from rural South African setting reported an overwhelming prevalence of overweight and obesity 10 and 20 years at 15-25% [Kimani-Murage et al 2010], when compared to national report of 17 years of age at 20.5% for males and 23 % for females % [Shisana et al 2013] a finding that is higher than anticipated, but still lower than in urban South African adolescents [Reddy et al 2012]. Another report by Micklesfield et al [2014] reported an increasing pubertal development associated with an increasing sedentary time among rural south African adolescent.

## 2.4.3 Demographic factors related to overweight

Numerous factors of demography and conditions affect the dietary intake of the adolescent population of South Africa. Early reports by Puoane et al [2002] and currently by Feeley et al [2012] have shown that high-energy food intake is common among South Africans. This phenomenon differs with area of residence, ethnicity, age and level of education. Studies have shown that urban adolescents exhibit poor dietary intake compared to rural dwellers due to

differences in lifestyle, which may influence their diet [Hoffmann et al 2012]. Current reports by Feeley et al [2012] have shown that poor dietary eating practices from birth to the age of 20 increase with age, especially breakfast skipping, eating while watching television and fast food consumption.

Among the ethnic groups in South Africa, black women have been shown to be more obese and more insulin resistant as compared to white women. Black women also have low visceral adipose tissue and insulinopaenia [van der Merwe et al 2001; Goedecke et al 2005]. These results are similar to those currently reported by Reddy et al [2012] where blacks still have the highest rate of obesity as compared to the other 3 ethnic groups (Indians, coloured and the whites). This high insulin resistance therefore exposes black women to a greater likelihood of developing type 2 diabetes as compared to white women [van der Merwe et al 2001].

Overweight and obesity differ greatly among South African age groups, genders, ethnic groups and geographical areas. According to Armstrong et al [2011], the prevalence of overweight and obesity among South African children and adolescents is increasing. Between 1994 and 2004, the prevalence of overweight and obesity in adolescence rose from 1.2%-13% and 0.2%-3.3% respectively [Armstrong et al 2011]. The rates were compared between the Primary Schools' Anthropometric Survey and The Health of the Nation Study [Armstrong et al 2011]. Findings by Labadarios [1999] reported the following geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1- 9-year-old South African children[Feeley 2012c], as shown in Table 6.

Location	% Prevalence	95% CI
National	17.1	15.0-19.23
Formal Urban	21.1	16.0-21.19

Table 6: Geographic differences of overweight and obesity among 1-9-year-old South Africans

Tribal areas	15.8	13.52-16.80
Informal urban	13.4	10.02-16.80
Farm dwellers	10.8	6.03-15.05

However, socio-demographic association to overweight/obesity among South Africa as described by Bauman et al 2012], are influenced by multiple factors interacting at different levels. The exploration of socio-demographic (Fig 1) associated with overweight/obesity involves an inter-ralated net work of factors from individual, social, community, State and National level factors.

## 2.5 Consequences of overweight and obesity

According to the WHO report of 2012, overweight and obesity are the fifth risk factors associated with deaths, of which 2.8 million deaths a year are attributed to overweight or obesity in adults in 2010 [WHO 2012]. The expected number of overweight children in developing countries is approximately 35 million, with 8 million in developed countries. More deaths are linked to overweight and obesity than underweight [WHO, 2012], which might be the result of increased dense-energy diet (fatty foods, high salt and sugars, low vitamins, and nutrients) and increased BMI. However, according to reports by the WHO [2008] and the OECD/WHO [2012], more than 50% of all deaths of children aged under five are due to underweight. A high BMI is the main attributable risk factor for chronic diseases. The major consequences associated with obesity are premature death, disability, physical and psychological effects and breathing difficulties of childhood [WHO 2012]. Others include metabolic syndrome which has been shown to be a precursor to CVD and type 2 diabetes [Bray, 1985; Grundy, 2000; Misra and Khurana, 2008; Lee, 2009]. According to Bray [1985], these outcomes, therefore, can be used as a means of providing guidelines for the prevention overweigh by encouraging physical exercise, good nutritional habits, education of tobacco use by adolescent in schools.

#### 2.5.1 Economic consequences

However, apart from the deleterious effect of HIV and tuberculosis, the health consequences of overweight and obesity among South African adolescent is increasing and exerting a huge burden on the government [Shisana et al 2013]. South Africa is ranked one of the highest with hypertension rates globally, a risk factor of overweight/obesity related diseases such as stroke and heart diseases [Shisana et al 2013]. According WHO these diseases are preventable [WHO 2012].

As already described overweight/obesity is a significant driver of NCDs and there are approximately one billion overweight/obesity individuals as compared to 850 million underweight worldwide [Yach et al 2006; FAO, WFP and IFAD 2012]. This number stretches and exerts a huge impact on health systems and health costs (Allison et al 1999; OECD 2010). The consequences are a high economic burden on individuals, families, insurance companies, the workplace and government.

The economic costs of overweight and obesity are classified into direct and indirect costs. The direct costs are those faced by the individual, government and insurance in terms of hospital cost such as laboratory diagnosis, hospital bills, admission fees etc [IOTF 2005], while the indirect costs deal with mortality and morbidity derived from lost productivity, absenteeism and bed rest [Runge 2007]. Estimated expenditures for health care for overweight and obese individuals are roughly 25% higher than those for normal-weight individuals and increase immensely as other complications set in [OECD 2010]. These estimates are responsible for 1% - 3% of total health expenditure in most countries [OECD 2010]. In the USA, for example, the cost is approximately 5% - 10% [OECD 2010]. One of the main components of overweight risk burden globally is diabetes [Sturn 2002]. The average cost of hospital care of diabetes per person in Latin America is estimated at \$550, exceeding the per capita GDP health expenditures [Barcelo et al 2003]. In South Africa the rate of mortality due to type 2 diabetes is comparably

higher than other SSA `of which 75% men and 86% women overweight/obese suffer from type 2 diabetes. The cost of treating and controlling diabetes and its related consequences in South Africa are quit very high [Bradshaw et al 2007; Joubert et al 2007]. This high cost has a huge potential impact on the South African economy. Reports by van der Merwe et al [2006] show that obese individuals contribute roughly 7% lost to productivity costs and disability pension cost to employers are 1.5-2.8 times higher in obese individuals than in normal-weight South Africans. In addition, obesity has a pronounced effect on mortality (7%) in South Africa and in conjunction with HIV and AIDS (30%) is damaging the economy and shrinking the work force [Joubert et al 2007; Puoane & Hughes 2007].

#### 2.6 Prevention of overweight/obesity

As stated earlier increasing prevalence of overweight/obesity is a major risk factor for most NCDs in both developed and developing countries. Therefore, the most preventable method of overweigh/obesity is by knowing one's BMI, eating style and early childhood development dietary habits [Gubbels et al 2011]. Knowing the influence of childhood overweight/obesity on adulthood complications is of utmost importance to initiate interventions to curb the problem worldwide. This prevention is done by taking the positive actions needed to turn the epidemic. However, action cannot be taken without knowing the etiological factors that are tailored to trigger weight gain and eventually the cause of obesity and its consequences. From previous studies the alteration in diet from low- to excess high-energy dense dietary intake low in vitamins and micronutrients and less exercise have been shown to promote weight gain [Report of the joint WHO/FAO Expert Consultation, 2003; Swinburn et al 2004; de Lauzon-Guillain et al 2006]. These changes in diet toward high-fat- and high-energy dense foods, low nutrients and sedentary lifestyles are some of the probable cause of childhood and adult obesity around the world [Swinburn et al 2004].

On the basis of genome-wide association studies, polygene alleles responsible for body weight and height regulation explain childhood and adult body weight [Hinney & Hebebrand 2009]. There is a likelihood that polygene will be explored further in assessing the implication and prevention of childhood obesity [Hinney & Hebebrand 2009]. Other factors include lack of weight control behaviours, as earlier reported by Stice et al [2005]. Knowing the risk factors, it is easier to set up prevention and control mechanisms. The most proxy control measures are the lifestyle reduction of high-energy dense food intake. According to a report from the Joint WHO/FAO Expert Consultation [2003] nutrient and physical activity influence gene expression over the years and predispose individuals to obesity. Other reports have shown that soft drink consumption is another significant risk factor for overweight because of increased energy intake and weight [Vartanian et al 2007]. Moreover, overweight is a growing phenomenon in developing countries because of the growing market and high consumption of soft drinks in the developing countries [Advertising Age 2007].

To reduce high energy intake and overweight developing, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) proposed the serving of high-nutrient foods (low energy dense) such as vegetables and fruits with appropriate energy-dense foods. These low energy dense foods may help in weight management by providing high portions of nutrients and fibre [Swinburn et al 2004; de Lauzon-Guillain et al 2006].

The Joint WHO/FAO Expert Consultation [2003] has shown that genetic variability to dietary responses can trigger high cholesterol levels. The cholesterol level can be used to target and prevent chronic diseases. In general, according to the WHO [2004] and the OECD [2012]

31

the following slogan can limit weight gain and obesity. The slogan "fit not fat" has been used by the OECD in fighting overweight and obesity [OECD, 2012] by promoting an increased uptake of low-energy dense foods (vegetables, fruits etc) and limiting the amount of high energy dense food required for appropriate calories.

Product reformulation or limitation of high-energy dense foods, high total fats and sugars, increased consumption of fruits and whole grains, increased intake of vegetables and nuts have a high significant effect with overweight [CDC 2011]. Regular physical exercise, keeping a healthy energy balance and keeping a healthy weight are vital. The reduction of fat, sugar and salt in commercially processed food products and the consumption of healthy and nutritious products are important. Other childhood targets that improve a healthy life including changes in school meals, better facilities for physical exercise and health education are highly encourage [CDC 2011]. Other intervention policies include the National School Nutrition Programme (NSNP) of the Department of Basic Education (DOBE) especially for poor families, to enhance learning capacity through school feeding programmes, promoting and supporting food production and improve food security in school communities and strengthening nutrition education in schools and communities [DOBE, 2013]. According to the food act all food labels in South Africa must comply with the latest food labeling and advertising law in order to inform and protect the South African consumer [de Villiers 2011]. In addition intervention from parents are vital in ensuring that, their children have better healthy food choices for their growth and development including physically active, which has become an increasingly sedentary lifestyle.

# 2.7 Aims and objectives of the study

# 2.7.1 Aims

To investigate the association between reported dietary intake and overweight among 17-yearold adolescents in the BT20 study of 2007/08.

# 2.7.2 Research question

Is dietary and energy intake associated with overweight among 17-year-old adolescents from Soweto, Johannesburg?

# 2.7.3 Study objectives

- I. To describe the socio-demographic factors, weight and BMI of 17-year-old adolescents in the BT20 cohort in 2007/2008.
- II. To describe the dietary intake among 17-year-old adolescents in the BT20 cohort, in terms of fat (g), carbohydrate (g), protein (g) and total energy intake (kJ) in 2007/2008.
- III. To determine the association between dietary intake (energy, fat, carbohydrate, protein) and overweight among 17-year old adolescents in the BT20 cohort in 2007/2008.
- IV. To determine the risk factors, including dietary intake, associated with overweight among 17-year-old adolescents in the BT20 cohort in 2007/2008

The proposed conceptual framework of the covariates, dietary and energy intake has a complex association with BMI category. This framework summaries the complex maps of factors associated with the overweight and obesity. Fig. 1 shows the conceptual frame work of biological, socioeconomic, demographic and other factors associated with BMI.



Fig: 1.Conceptual frame work of factors associated with body mass index.

#### **3.0 METHODOLOGY**

#### 3.1 Study design

This study was based on secondary data collected from a cross-sectional survey among 17-yearold adolescents from the BT20 cohort study in 2007/2008.

## 3.2 Study population

A total of 227 adolescents were randomly selected from 1,600 17-year old adolescents in the BT20 cohort study. The BT20 cohort study is a longitudinal ongoing study on a cohort of children (n=3273) that were born in the metropolitan area of Soweto, Johannesburg, South Africa in 1990 [Richter et al 2007]. The BT20 study group measured the physical and psychological development, including growth, bone mineral density, body weight and BMI [Richter et al 2007]. The study is one of the largest and longest running studies of infant-, child-and adolescent health and development in Africa, and one of only a few large-scale longitudinal birth cohort studies in the world [Richter et al 2007]. The information on adolescents used was based on their dietary intake collected in 2007/2008 and their SES factors collected at birth.

## 3.2.1 Sample size calculation

The choice of 227 participants was based on time constraints in coding of the data on the FFQ, capturing of the data into FFQ software, checking and verification of the data generated from the FFQ software and updating the information into FFQ software. However, the sample size provided a reasonable estimate of the key parameters at 95% CI. The assumed population estimate (p) was  $17 \pm 3\%$  prevalence and the expected overweight in Soweto was set at (1-p): The sample size was calculated according to Gorstein et al [2007], as shown below.

$$n = \frac{z^2 p(1-p)}{d^2}$$

where:

**❖** z = 1.96

 $\Rightarrow$  p = Estimate of the expected proportion

• d = Margin of error estimation (approximately = 5% = 0.05)

This gave us a sample size of 227 adolescents, to determine the association between explanatory variables overweight.

## 3.2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Candidates who were 17 years of age, non-diabetic and originated from the BT20 cohort were eligible to be randomly selected for the study. Those who were pregnant and/or on a special prescribed diet were also excluded.

#### **3.3 Measurement instrument and variables**

#### **3.3.1** The evaluation of the Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ)

The BT20 study uses a modified interviewer-led quantitative FFQ to estimate an individual 's energy intake [Zingoni et al 2009]. The dietary intake questionnaire had approximately 214 food items [Steyn & Senekal 2005] commonly eaten by at least 3% of the South African population, modified from the dietary survey of 1983 [Nel & Steyn 2002]. The FFQ has not been validated due to financial resources however, it has been assessed against Dennis et al. 2003 criteria and it scores s (13/15; 87%) as shown in Appendix II. The FFQ make use of food flash cards of various excellent high-quality food photographs and designs [Steyn &Senekal 2005].

The interview was done by well-trained interviewers. The food intake information obtained from the participants was estimated in terms of household measures (e.g. 1 cup or 2 serving spoons) as well as two-dimensional current-size drawing of foods (slices etc), and utensils [Steyn et al 2006]. The procedures:

1. The participants were given the food flash cards items to peruse and select into a pile of "rarely eat/never or drink"

- 2. There after they were asked to re-classify the remaining food flash cards into a pile of
  - "eat/drink less frequently ('occasional')"
  - ✤ "eat regularly and in the past seven days".

3. Data was obtained by asking the participants the frequency and quantity of the listed foods "**eat regularly'' and in the past seven days**. The details of the food items eaten in the past 7-days were recorded in the FFQ Table (Appendix 1) and the whole process took approximately 1 hour to complete.

4. The amount or quantity of food in grams consumed daily by each participant was calculated by multiplying the portion, weight, or amount by the frequency of consumption per day and per week. The total was then divided by 7 and the quantity recorded in grams. The time period was known as "data coding".

5. The data was checked for quality by the senior nutritionist and anomalies were queried and corrected together with the interviewer.

6. The total gram of the different food items were calculated and the participant identifiers was entered or captured into the Foodfinder Dietary Analysis Programme III computer base programme developed by the MRC [Langenhoven et al 1991].

7. The Foodfinder Dietary Analysis Programme III automatically calculate the individual energy in kilojoules (KJ), macronutrient intake in grams (g), and micronutrients in micrograms (mcg) [MRC, 2002].

8. The captured data was later exported into an Excel spreadsheet and verified according to the type of food, code and the grams captured per food item per participant identifier. The incorrectly captured data was corrected and updated in the FFQ Foodfinder software program.

#### 3.3.2 Outcome variables

In the current study a weighing scale balance (for weight) and a stadiometers (for height) were used to estimate the adolescent BMI as reported in other studies in South Africa and other settings [Rockett et al 1995; Frost et al 1995; Tur et al 2004; Zingoni et al 2009]. The weightand height were measured by well-trained staff who used standard anthropometric techniques. The electronic scale (SECA Ltd Germany) that was calibrated daily was used for weight measurement to the nearest 0.1 kg while a portable stadiometer (Holtain Ltd UK) was used to measure height to the nearest 0.1 cm.

The weighing balance was preferred in the current study because of the portability, compact nature and interviewers found it easy and friendly to use. However, the weighing balance can be over-stretched and approximation to the nearest 0.1 cm reduces the accuracy.

Throughout the study overweight/obese will be referring to overweight as the outcome (Mo-suwan et al 2000; Mathews et al 2011) and identifies the fattest adolescents who are at risk of becoming diabetic. Overweight/obesity (BMI >85<sup>th</sup> percentile) was estimated from the BMI where the BMI is the weight (kg) divided by the height (m) squared (BMI = kg/m<sup>2</sup>), according to IOTF cut offs. This approach uses percentiles based on age and gender and therefore creates the age- and gender-specific cut-off points for adolescents. In general, adolescents with BMI category values less than the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile value are considered as underweight, between  $10^{th} \le 85^{th}$  percentile as obese [Kromeyer-Hauschild et al 2001; Reddy et al 2012]. Because of the small sample size and the nature of the outcome of the study, **overweight cut off was** considered at ≥85th percentile (including those that were obese). In medical expressions overweight and obesity are considered risk factor of NCD due to excess stored body fat [Krebs et al 2007]. On this basis BMI category was re-categorised as thin [<10<sup>th</sup> (underweight)], normal

weight [>10<sup>th</sup> to 85<sup>th</sup> (normal weight)] and overweight [>85<sup>th</sup> (overweight/obese)]. This cut off confirms the reports by Bellows & Moore [2013] that overweight and obesity are consequences of excess body weight that poses a medical risk to adolescent.

#### **3.3.3 Exposures variables**

#### 3.3.3.1 Evaluation of energy intake

The key exposure variable of this study was total dietary intake (fat, carbohydrates, protein and energy (kJ). The modified FFQ developed by the Medical Research Council (MRC) was used to assess the dietary intake. The Goldberg cut-off energy was used to determine energy intake (EI) [FAO/WHO/UNU 1985; Black 2000]. Since the energy from the various food samples was calculated by the Foodfinder software program version III, the EI for the study was then estimated using the ratio of energy generated from the FoodFinder (KJ/day) to basal metabolic rate (BMR) (KJ/day) (EI:BMR). BMR is the amount of energy expended daily at rest. The BMR was calculated using the equations

BMR  $(kcal/day) = \{17.69 \text{ x body weight } (kg)\} + 658 \text{ for boys}$ 

# While

BMR  $(kcal/day) = \{13.38 \text{ x body weight } (kg)\} + 693 \text{ for girls.}$ 

The upper and lower cut-off points were then determined from sedentary lifestyle of 1.55 X BMR or EI:BMR as defined from physical activity level (PAL), according to the WHO standard [FAO/WHO/UNU 1985; Black 2000]. The energy was then categorised using  $\leq$ 1.55 x BMR or EI:BMR  $\leq$  1.55 as under-reported and >1.55 x BMR or EI:BMR > 1.55 as over-reported.

#### 3.3.3.2 Socioeconomic variables

In the BT20 study interviews were conducted by trained staff at the research site at Chris Hani Baragwanath Hospital. An interviewer-led questionnaire was used to collect data from participants' mothers regarding the type of home, own home, telephone, water use, water type, toilet use, toilet type, electricity, television, car and washing machine to assess the SES status of the participant at the birth of the BT20 child.

#### 3.3.3.3 Demographic variables

Each participant's demographic information such as mother's age, gender, date of birth, place of birth, and ethnicity were collected through the same standard interviewer-led questionnaire at the time of birth.

# 3.4 Data management and analysis 3.4.1 Data Quality assurance

The information needed for the data analysis included: coding of the data on the Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ), capturing of the data into food composition software, checking and verification of the data generated from the software and updating the information into software. The final data was then exported to STATA 12.1 software for statistical analysis.

## **3.4.2 Descriptive statistics**

The analysis was done using STATA 12.1 (Stata Corp LP, College Station, Texas 77845 USA). The variables were extracted from the BT20 data, cleaned and coded. BMI was generated from height and weight (BMI = weight/height<sup>2</sup> =  $(kg/m^2)$ ). The data was described using mean and standard deviation for continuous variables such as weight, height and BMI because they were normally distributed. Skewed continuous data (fat, carbohydrate, protein and energy) were analysed using the median and interquartile range (IQR) because these are not affected by extreme outliers resulting from the under- and over-reporting of dietary intake or energy estimates. Such a summary was presented for variables of diet (fat, protein and carbohydrate), energy, BMR and PAL. Cross-tabulations of socio-demographic variables with the categorised BMI were also presented to investigate any associations.

#### 3.4.3 Inferential statistics

The Chi square test was used to determine association between categorical variables and categorised BMI category. Fisher exact was used to determine association between categorical variables and categorised BMI when one of the expected cell counts was less than 5. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was undertaken to assess for association between diet intake (energy, fat, protein, carbohydrate) and un-categorised BMI because the data were highly skewed.

The variables that were found to be significantly associated with BMI category at 20% significance level were considered in the multinomial logistic regression to determine further significance in the multivariable situation. The multinomial logistic regression was used because the BMI category outcome was nominal and had more than 2 categories. Normal weight was used as the base category in relation to underweight and overweight/obesity categories. In multinomial logistic regression the relative risk ratios (RRR ) were interpreted in a similar way as the odds ratios (OR). Pair wise correlation was used to check for correlation among the independent variables and significant variables (p < 0.05) with a correlation greater than 70% were excluded from the modelling process. (Only one of the variables was excluded and not both.)

## 3.5 Ethical consideration

The authority and approval to use the BT20 data for the study was provided by Professor Shane Norris (Appendix IIa), Director of the Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit (DPHRU) at the University of the Witwatersrand. Ethical approval for the study was provided by the Human Research Ethics Committee at the University of the Witwatersrand (reference no: M120862 appendix 1Ib).

# **4.0 RESULTS**

Table 7 describes the overall socio-demographic characteristics by gender among 17-year-old adolescent in Soweto, 2007/2008. Of the 227 subjects sampled, 99 (43.6%) were boys and 128 (56.4%) were girls. The majority were of black origin, with 56.1% of these being girls and 43.9% boys. More than 50% of the participants were delivered at public hospitals. Nearly all the 17-year-old participants' mothers had formal education. Of the 171 individuals whose mothers had secondary education 75 (43.9%) were boys and 96 (56.1%) were girls. Of those whose mothers had a post-secondary education, 9(56.2%) were boys and 7(43.8%) were girls. It was also observed that the majority of both boys and girls (>50%) lived in rented houses with indoor hot and cold water, toilet flush inside, own refuse bin and equally having a television and a fridge. Less than 50% had cars and washing machines for laundry (Table 7).

Variable	Number	Male (%)	Female (%)
		n=99	n=128
Mother's age group (years)			
<30	49	22(44.9)	27(55.1)
20-30	131	55(42.0)	76(58.0)
>30	47	22(46.8)	25(53.2)
Ethnicity			
Black	171	75(43.9)	96(56.1)
Coloured	53	24(45.3)	29(54.7)
Asian	3	-	3(100)
Place of birth			
Soweto	134	60(44.8)	74(55.2)
Diepmeadow	32	14(43.7)	18(56.3)
Mixed ancestral settlement	51	21(41.2)	30(58.8)
Suburban JHB	10	4(40)	6(60)

Table 7: The distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by gender in 227 17-year-old adolescents, Soweto, 2007/2008

Birth weight(kg)				
Low weight	21	79(33.3)	14(66.7)	
Normal weight	206	92(44.7)	114(55.3)	
Type of hospital				
Public	202	91(45.1)	111(54.9)	
Private	25	8(32)	17(64)	
*Maternal education				
No formal education	2	1(50)	1(50)	
Primary	24	13(54.2)	11(45.8)	
Matric	171	75(43.9)	96(56.1)	
Post education	16	9(56.2)	7(43.8)	
Type of home				
Shack	9	4(44.4)	5(55.6)	
Flat	12	6(50)	6(50)	
House	153	68(44.4)	85(55.6)	
Shared house	20	11(55)	9(45)	
Room	14	4(28.6)	10(71.4)	
Own home				
Own	50	24(38)	26(52)	
Rental Person	37	15(39.5)	23(60.5)	
Rental local	120	54(45)	66(55)	
*Water facilities				
Indoor hot & cold	159	71(44.6)	88(55.4)	
Indoor cold	30	13(43.3)	17(56.7)	
<b>*Toilet facilities</b>				
Flush inside	158	71(44.9)	87(55.1)	
Flush outside	31	13(41.9)	18(58.1)	
Refuse use				
Own bin	177	78(44.1)	99(55.9)	
Own heap	9	4(44.4)	5(55.6)	
Leave in street	41	17(41.5)	24(58.5)	

*Television					
Yes	138	60(43.5)	78(56.5)		
No	52	23(44.2)	29(55.8)		
*Car					
Yes	42	12(28.6)	30(71.4)		
No	148	71(48)	77(52)		
*Fridge					
Yes	140	59(42.1)	81(57.9)		
No	51	25(49)	26(51)		
*Washing machine					
Yes	38	14(36.8)	24(63.2)		
No	153	70(45.7)	83(54.3)		
*Telephone					
Yes	99	44(44.4)	55(55.6)		
No	92	40(43.5)	52(56.5)		

Note: \* = Variable with missing data.

Table 8 summarises the WHO cut-off BMI category among 227 17-year-old Soweto adolescents.

Table 8: Body mass index using WHO cut-off percentiles for 17-year-old adolescents in Soweto 2007/2008(n=227)

<b>BMI Categories</b>	Boys (%)	Girls (%)	Overall: (%)	P value
	n=99	n=128	n=227	
Underweight	33(62.3)	20(37.7)	53(23.4)	0.002
Normal weight	58(41.1)	83(58.9)	141(62.0)	
Overweight	2(8.3)	22(91.7)	24(10.6)	
Obese	6(66.7)	3(33.3)	9(4.0)	

As shown in Table 8, those with percentiles lower than the  $10^{\text{th}}$  were 53(23.4%), between  $10^{\text{th}}$  and  $85^{\text{th}}$  were 141(62.0%), greater than  $85^{\text{th}}$  to  $95^{\text{th}}$  were 24(10.6%) and greater than the  $95^{\text{th}}$  percentile were 9(4.0%). The results showed a greater proportion of girls being overweight/obese

22(91.7%) when compared to their male counterparts 2(8.3%). The overall prevalence of underweight among the BT20 adolescents was 23.4%, overweight 10.5% and obese 4.0%.

However, for further analysis the overweight/obese participants were re-classified as overweight/obese (>85th percentiles), according to Mo-suwan et al [2000]. Therefore, from now onwards the prevalence of overweight/obese among 17-year-old adolescents in Soweto will be referred as 14.5% (33/227) and underweight as 23.4% (53/227).

Table 9 summarises the mean and standard deviation of BMI category in the 17-year-old adolescents from the study.

Gender	Variable	No	Mean ± SD	Min & max	Confidence
				value	interval
Boys					
	BMI(kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	99	20.4±4.2	15.6-37.3	19.5-21.2
	Height(m)	99	1.7±0.1	1.3- 1.9	1.7 - 1.73
	Weight (kg)	99	60.2±12.8	43.8-117.5	57.7 - 62.8
Girls					
	BMI(kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	128	21.7±0.3	10.5- 30.5	21.1-22.3
	Height(m)	128	1.6±0.1	1.4-2.0	1.62- 1.61
	Weight (kg)	128	55.9±10.3	26 - 86.3	54.05- 57.66

Table 9: Anthropometric body mass index characteristics of 17-year-old adolescents in Soweto, 2007/2008(n=227)

The boys' mean BMI was  $20.4\pm4.2$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (95% CI 19.5-21.2) and the mean BMI for girls was  $21.7\pm0.3$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> (95% CI 21.1-22.3). The average height of the boys was estimated at  $1.7\pm0.1$  meters (95% CI 1.7 - 1.73) and girls at  $1.6\pm0.1$  meters (95% CI 1.4- 2.0). The average weight of

the boys was 60.2±12.8 kg (95% CI 57.7 - 62.8) and that of girls was 55.9±10.3 kg (95% CI 54.05- 57.66).

Table 10 represents the dietary and energy anthropometric characteristics by gender in 17-yearold adolescents in Soweto, 2007/2008.

Table10: Daily energy and macronutrient intake assess by gender in 17-year-old adolescents, Soweto, 2007/2008

Variable	Boys: Median(IQR)	P value	Girls : Median(IQR)	P value	Recommended Daily Allowance (RDA)	
					Boys	Girls
Energy Intake	22474(14822-	< 0.001	18204(11226-	< 0.001	14322	10513
(kJ)*	26744)		21516)			
Fat(g)	189.4(119.9-239.8)	< 0.001	176.4(99.5-220.1)	< 0.001	-	-
Protein(g)	154.6(98.7-198.2)	< 0.001	126.1(70.4-145.5)	< 0.001	52	46
Carbohydrate(g)	596.98 (461-794.2)	< 0.001	523.1(326.6-640.9)	< 0.001	130	130
BMR(kJ)	7238(6018-11494)		6914(4695-9175)		-	-
EI : BMR(kJ	3.1(0.72-7.5)		2.7(0.21-11.2)		1.83	1.72

The median and IQR interquartile range (IQR) of diet content (fat, protein, and carbohydrate), energy, BMR and PAL by gender showed a significantly higher amount when compared to the daily allowance [Torun 2001]. The median macronutrient intake for boys was positively associated with BMI: fat 189.4g (IQR119.9-239.8, P < 0.001), proteins 154.6g (IQR 98.7-198.2, P < 0.001) and carbohydrate 596.98g (IQR 461-794.2, P < 0.001) while the association for girls was fat 176.4g (IQR 99.5-220.1, P < 0.001), proteins 126.1g (IQR 70.4-145, P < 0.001.) and carbohydrates 523.1g (IQR 326.6-640.9, P < 0.001). The median energy intake for boys 18204(IQR 14822-26744, P < 0.001) was positively associated with BMI and that for girls was 18204(IQR 11226-21516, P < 0.001) as shown in Table 11.

Table 11 presents the overview association between socio-demographic characteristics and dietary intake and BMI of 17-year-old boys in Soweto 2007/2008.

Variable	Total	Underweight	Normal	Overweight	P value
Energy intake					0.08
cut off	4	1 (25.0)	0(50)	1/05 0	
Underreported (<1.35)	4	1(25.0)	2(50)	1(25.0)	
Normal(cut off	6	2(33.3)	2(33.3)	2(33.3)	
1.30-1.34) Over reported	89	30(33.7)	54(60.7)	5(5.6)	
(>1.55)					
Mother's age					0.385
<i>sroup(years)</i> <20	22	7(31.8)	14(63.4)	1(4.6)	
20-30	55	20(36.4)	32(58.2)	3(5.5)	
>30	22	6(27.3)	12(54.6)	4(18.2)	
Ethnicity					0.628
Black	75	25(33.3	45(60.0)	5(6.7)	
Coloured	24	8(33.3)	13(54.2)	3(12.5)	
Birth weight (kg)					0.148
Low	7	5(71.4)	2(28.6)	00	
Normal	92	28(30.4	56(60.9)	8(8.7)	
Type of hospital					0.024
Public	91	31(34.1)	55(60.4)	5(5.5)	
Private	8	2(25)	3(37.5)	3(37.5)	
Own home					0.523
Own	24	8(33.3)	13(54.2)	3(12.5)	
Rental person	15	5(33.3)	8(53.3)	2(13.3)	
Rental local	54	20(37)	32(59.3)	2(3.7)	
Toilet use					0.051
Sole usage	28	7(25)	17(60.7)	4(14.3)	

Table 11: Distribution of socio-demographic factors by BMI among 17-year old boys in Soweto, 2007/2008 (n=227)

Shared	56	22(39.3)	33(58.9)	1(1.8)	
Car					0.048
Yes	12	4(33.3)	5(41.7)	3(2.5)	
No	71	24(33.8)	44(62)	3(4.2)	
Washing machine					0.046
Yes	14	6(42.9)	5(35.7)	3(21.4)	
No	70	23(32.9)	44(62.9)	3(4.3)	
Telephone					0.259
Yes	44	16(36.4)	23(52.3)	5(11.4)	
No	40	13(32.5)	26(65)	1(2.5)	

Note:  $\xi$ = No male Asian

Of the 89 boys that showed over reported energy intake, 54 had normal weight (60.7%) while 5 experienced overweight (5.6%) as shown in Table 11. Over 90% of the boys were delivered in public hospitals and 60.4% of this group had normal weight and 5.5% were overweight. Equally among the boys who made use of a sole toilet, 14.3% were overweight while of those who shared a toilet, only 1.8% were overweight. Among the boys from homes with washing machine, 21.4% were overweight versus 4.3% who did not own one, as shown in Table 11.

Table 12 describes the overview relationship between the socio-demographics of 17-year-old girls and their BMI category.

Variable	Total	underweight	Normal	Overweight	P value
					0.077
Energy intake (kJ)					0.277
Underreported		2(11.8)	9(52.9)	6(35.3)	
(cut off <1.35)	17				
Normal(cut off	10	2(20.0)	5(50.0)	3(30.0)	
1.36-1.54)					
Over reported (cut	101	16(15.8)	69(68.3)	26(15.8)	
off <1.55)					

Table 12: Distribution of socio-demographic characteristics by BMI category in 17-year-old girls in Soweto, 2007/2008

Mother's age group (years)					0.333
<20	27	3(11.1)	19(70.4)	5(18.5)	
20-30	76	12(15.8)	52(68.4)	12(15.8)	
>30	25	5(20.0)	12(48.0)	8(32.0)	
Ethnicity					0.042
Black	96	11(11.5)	63(65.6)	22(22.9)	
Coloured	29	8(27.6)	19(65.5)	2(6.9)	
Asian	3	1(33.3)	1(33.3)	1(33.3)	
Place of birth					0.510
Soweto	74	10(13.5)	46(62.2)	18(24.3)	
Diepmeadow	18	3(16.7)	13(72.2)	2(11.1)	
Suburban JHB	6	1(16.7)	3(50)	2(33.3)	
Birth weight					0.373
Low	14	4(28.6)	8(57.1)	2(14.3)	
Normal	114	16(14)	75(65.8)	23(20.2)	
Type of hospital					0.236
Public	111	15(13.5)	73(65.8)	23(20.7)	
Private	17	5(29.4)	10(58.8)	2(11.8)	
Own home					0.550
Own	26	6(23.1)	14(53.9)	6(23.1)	
Rental person	23	3(13	17(73.9)	3(13)	
Rental local	66	8(12.1)	44(66.7)	14(21.2)	
Water use					0.233
Sole usage	37	7(18.9)	21(56.8)	9(24.3)	
Shared	30	4(33.3)	24(80)	2(6.7)	
No access	38	5(13.2)	24(63.2)	9(23.7)	
Water facilities					0.855
Indoor hot & cold	88	14(15.9)	58(65.9)	16(18.2)	
Indoor cold	17	2(11.8)	11(64.7)	4(23.5)	
Toilet use					0.594

Sole usage	46	9(19.6)	29(663)	8(17.4)	
Shared	59	7(11.9)	40(67.8)	12(20.3)	
Television					0.389
Yes	78	14(18)	48(61.5)	16(20.5)	
No	29	2(2.9)	21(72.4)	6(20.7)	
Car					0.465
Yes	30	6(20)	17(56.7)	7(23.3)	
No	77	10(13)	52(67.5)	15(19.5)	
Fridge					0.306
Yes	81	13(16.1)	49(60.5)	19(23.5)	
No	26	3(11.5)	20(76.9)	3(11.5)	
Washing machine					0.464
Yes	24	3(12.5)	14(58.3)	7(29.2)	
No	83	13(15.7)	55(66.3)	15(18.1)	

As shown in Table 12, out of the 101 girls that over reported their energy, 15.8% were overweight while 68.3% had normal weight. Girls from the black community were overweight (22.9%) when compared to those of coloured race (6.9%). Those that were delivered in Soweto Township were 24.3% overweight as compared to those from Diepmeadow (11.1%) and Indian/coloured townships (10%) respectively (Table 12).

Tables 13 and 14 show the results of the multivariate multinomial logistic regression of factors associated with overweight, relative to the base category normal weight. The relative risk ratios (RRR), which are interpreted in a similar way as odds ratios(OR) were used to express the unit change per explanatory variable as shown in Tables 13 (boys) and 14 (girls) respectively.

BMI	Variable	Number	RRR (95% CI)	Р	Φ <b>RRR (95% CI</b> )	P value
				value		
Underweight						
	Washing machine					
	Yes	14	1.00		1.00	
	No	70	0.47(0.11 - 1.97)	0.302	0.48(0.12 - 1.9)	0.300
	Car					
	Yes	12	1.00		1.00	
	No	71	0.44(0.09 - 2.16	0.309	0.52(0.11 - 2.4)	0.406
	Protein	99	0.98(0.96 - 10)	0.182	-	-
	Fat	99	0.98(0.95 - 1.0)	0.331	1.0(0.98 - 1.0)	0.988
	Carbohydrate	99	0.99(0.97 - 1.0)	0.302	0.99(0.99 - 1.0)	0.925
	Energy intake	99	1.0(0.999 - 1.0)	0.325	1.0(0.99 - 1.0)	0.829
Over weight/obes	se					
	Washing machine					
	Yes	14	1.00			
	No	70	0.1 (0.01 - 0.81)	0.03	0.1(0.01 - 0.82)	0.032
	Car					
	Yes	12	1.00			
	No	71	0.15(0.01 - 1.41)	0.095	0.17(0.19 - 1.51)	0.114
	Protein	99	0.99(0.96 - 1.01)	0.673	-	-
	Fat	99	0.98(0 .93 - 1.01)	0.408	0.99(0.95 -1.01)	0.507
	Carbohydrate	99	0.98(0.95 - 1.01)	0.161	0.99(0.96 -1.02)	0.161
	Energy intake	99	1.0(0.996 - 1.01)	0.283	1.01(0.99 - 1.01)	0.272

# Table 13: Relative risk ratios associated with BMI category among 17-year-old boys in Soweto, 2007/2008

**Key:** RRR= Relative risk ratio; ΦRRR= adjusted

The relative risk ratios (RRR) of boys becoming overweight according to their SES characteristics, the macronutrients and the energy intake are summarised in Table 13. Comparing overweight boys to normal weight boys, there was no significant associated risk of becoming overweight by consuming fat (RRR 0.99, 95% CI 0.95-1.01) and carbohydrate (RRR 0.99, 95%

CI 96 - 1.01). The study found no significant association between boys energy intake and overweight (RRR 1.0, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.01).

The results showed that boys from homes with washing machine were less (RRR 0.01, 95% CI - 0.01-0.81) likely to become overweight than those from homes without washing. Boys from homes without washing machine were less (RRR 0.47, 95% CI 0.11-1.97) likely to become underweight than those from homes with washing machines.

Table 14 shows the RRRs of girls becoming overweight as a result of a unit change in the covariates in relation to their BMI.

BMI	Variable	Number	RRR (95% CI)	P value	Φ <b>RRR (95% CI)</b>	P value
Underweight						
	Ethnicity					
	Black	96	1		1	
	Coloured	29	2.9(0.12 - 3.21)	0.069	2.8(0.89 - 8.57)	0.078
	Asian	3	9.0(0.32 - 254.55)	0.226	6.1(0.34 - 110.6)	0.221
	Fat	128	0.99(0.95 - 1.02)	0.668	1.0 (0.95 -1.01)	0.341
	Protein	128	1.0(0.98 - 1.01)	0.627	-	-
	Carbohydrate	128	1.0(0. 98 - 1.01)	0.853	1.0(0.99 - 1.01)	0.705
	Energy intake	128	1.0(0.99 - 1.02)	0.971	1.0(0.99 - 1.01)	0.455
Over weight/ob	ese					
	Ethnicity					
	Black	96	1		1	
	Coloured	29	0.26(0.05 - 1.26)	0.095	0.25(0.05 - 1.20)	0.083
	Asian	3	2.1(0.13 - 37.27)	0.591	2.2(0.13 - 37.70)	0.585
	Fat	128	1.0(0.94 - 1.02)	0.833	1.0(0.96 - 1.011)	0.588
	Protein	128	1.0(0.98 - 1.01)	0.546	-	-
	Carbohydrate	128	1.0(0.98 - 1.01)	0.631	1.0(0.99 - 1.01)	0.894
	Energy intake	128	0.99(0.99 - 1.01)	0.664	1.0(0.99 - 1.01)	0.792

Table 14: Relative risk ratios associated with BMI category among 17-year-old girls in Soweto, 2007/2008

The results showed that girls from a mixed ancestral community (coloureds) were more likely to be underweight than black African girls (RRR 2.8, 95% CI 0.89-8.57), although this was not significant. However, the results should be interpreted with caution because of the large 95% CI. Girls from the Asian community were 2.2 (95% CI 0.13-37.70) times more likely to become overweight than black African girls although the results were not significant. The results also showed that girls from a mixed ancestral community (RRR 0.25, 95% CI 0.05-1.20) were less likely to be overweight than black African girls (Table 14)

There was no significant difference in dietary intakes among overweight girls when compared to normal weight girls: fat (RRR 1.0, 95% CI 0.96 - 1.01, p= 0.585), carbohydrate (RRR1.0, 95% CI 0.99 - 1.01, p= 0.792). The trend was similar in underweight girls compared to normal weight girls (Table 14).

#### 5.0 DISCUSSION

The main aim of the study was to examine the association between the dietary intake and BMI category among 17-year-old adolescents in the BT20 living in Soweto. The study was aimed at 17-year old adolescent because of the availability of data in BT20 study. Furthermore, South Africa does not have any documented dietary intake for 17-year adolescent and the data collected have provided a baseline information which will be followed up as the participants turn 22 years of age. The baseline data will provide future useful information on the changes in dietary intake from late adolescent to early adulthood among BT20 study in Soweto,. Although the results do not show statistically significant associations, probably due to the small sample size, the descriptive results provided useful insights on the prevalence of overweight and underweight among BT20 adolescent. Due to limited data on dietary intake among 17-year-old adolescents globally, the study at this stage compared the 17-year-old BT20 adolescent.

The mean weight for 17-year-old boys ( $60.2\pm12.8$  Kg) was lower when compared to SANHANES-1 mean weight for boys 15-24 years [Shisana et al 2013] but the mean weight was similar to other South African adolescent earlier studies [Toriola et al 2012; Moselakgomo et al 2012] and elsewhere by Freedman et al [2007] and Aounallah-Skhiri et al [2011]. Similarly, the mean weight for girls ( $55.9\pm10.3$  Kg) conformed to similar studies in South Africa [Toriola et al 2012; Moselakgomo et al 2012; Moselakgomo et al 2012], Tunisia [Aounallah-Skhiri et al 2011], Spain [Vicente-Rodriguez et al 2008] and the USA [Freedman et al (2007].

Using the IOTF reference BMI cut offs, the overall overweight prevalence was 14.5% among the 17-year-old adolescents in the current study. This result was comparable to results from adolescent studies carried out in Spain, Russia, and USA that ranged from 9%-31% while

54

those of China ranged from 0.2%-11% [Moreno et al 2001; Jinabhai et al 2003]. The overweight prevalence in the current study (14.3%) was lower than those previously described by Reddy et al [2008] in the 2002 (16.9%) South African National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey (SANYRBS). Participants in the Reddy et al [2008] study were 18 years of age. The prevalence of underweight among the adolescents in this study was observed at 23.4%. This was a very significant result indicating the coexistence of both overweight and underweight among 17-year-old Soweto boys. The prevalence was lower than those earlier reported by Reddy et al [2008] from the 2002 SANYRBS, which showed a prevalence of 9% underweight and overweight 16.9%. Equally, the National Food Consumption Survey (NFCS) of 1999 showed a prevalence of 10.3% underweight among South African children [Labadarios et al 2005].

On the basis of gender differences, both boys (33.3%) and girls (15.6%) showed a higher underweight when compared to other reports by Toriola et al [2012] where underweight among black Africans adolescents boys was 4.6% versus 5.3% girls. The prevalence of overweight boys (9.1%) in Toriola et al 2012 study was similar to the prevalence estimated in the current study (8.1%). However, the prevalence of overweight girls was lower (11.0%) in Toriola et al [2012] when compared to the result of 19.5% girls in the current study. In another similar report by Jacobs & De Ridder [2012], boys' underweight prevalence was 19.0% when compared with 11.0% of girls, while overweight was estimated at 1.0% for boys and 4.0% for girls among black South Africans, in rural areas of the North West Province of South Africa.

The current study found that girls were overweight/obese than boys, which confirms earlier similar reports from the 2002 SANYRBS findings where a higher proportion of adolescent girls than boys in South Africa were found to be overweight [Reddy et al 2008]. A detailed report from the Reddy et al [2012] SANYRBS survey equally showed that 0.7% of the

boys were overweight in 2002 and 1.0% in 2008 versus 1.9% girls in 2002 and 1.3% in 2008 respectively. Similarly, other reports by the International Association for the Study of Obesity in 2011 estimated obesity among boys aged 5-17 years in South Africa at 13.6% and girls at 17.7% [OECD, 2012]. However, the opposite was observed by Monyeki et al (2008), where South African boys were more overweight than girls and were similar to those observed in Spain [Vicente-Rodriguez et al 2008] and China [Jinabhai et al 2003] where boys were more overweight than girls.

The present study showed a high prevalence of overweight among 17-year-old adolescents. Studies from other South African settings estimate the increase to be due to regular watching of television [McVeigh et al 2004] as well as fewer physical activities, consumption of snack foods and high-energy dense foods/micronutrient-poor foods [Temple et al 2006]. Also Lambert et al [2000] observed that fitness levels in 12-18-year-old adolescents in Western Cape schools was associated with obesity as a result of inactivity – measured by greater television viewing over time. According to findings by Wiecha et al [2006], increased television viewing by youths is closely associated with increased dietary intake. However, other reports by Ballard-Barbash et al [1996] showed an inverse association between energy intake and BMI and, therefore, differed from earlier reports by Fricker et al [1989] that showed a positive association between energy intake and BMI (overweight) category.

The study equally provided information on the gender and ethnic differences in overweight, probably resulting from the SES and socio-demographic factors that have been demonstrated to underline similar epidemics in other settings. The current study showed that black African boys residing in Soweto (6.7%) were less overweight than their coloured (12.5%) counterparts. The trend was similar to those of the SANYRBS reported by Reddy et al [2012],
where in 2008 survey, 0.9% black Africans boys were overweight when compared to 2.3% coloured boys. Black Africans girls were 22.9% overweight versus 6.9% coloured girls. A similar trend in overweight was observed for the girls where black Africans girls were 1.4% overweight when compared to 2.6% of coloured girls.

Boys from homes with a sole toilet usage were more overweight (14.8%) compared to those from shared toilet 1.8%). The same similar pattern was observed for the girls from homes with washing machine where 29.2% were overweight versus 18.1% from non washing machine homes. This is because human physical laundry is a form of physical activity when compared to machine laundry. Excessive human calories are lost during human physical laundry when compared to sedentary life assisted washing machine. Other findings have indicated that adolescents from homes with poorer maternal education backgrounds are less likely to have accurate perceptions about high (sugary, fatty foods) and low- (fruits and non-starchy vegetables) energy dense foods. Most high energy dense foods have low nutrient content when compared to low energy dense foods with high nutrient content [WCRF/AICR, 1997].

The median daily dietary intake and energy intake for both boys and girls in this study was higher than the recommended daily allowance of the UK references [Torun 2001; FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Torun 2005]. They were also significantly higher than those reported by Aounallah-Skhiri et al [2011]. Studies indicate that macronutrient and energy intake cannot fit exactly with the recommended allowance. This was further confirmed by the recent findings by Grobbelaar et al [2013] who estimated the daily carbohydrate intake at 334.7g exceeding the recommended daily allowance of 130g while in the current study it was estimated at 523g for girls.

The ratio of energy intake to basal metabolic rate (EI:BMR) cut offs < 1.55 in the present study showed misreported energy intake. This ratio was very high (79%) when compared to those earlier reported by dos Santos et al [2010], who showed that 65.6% of energy intake in adolescents is usually misreported. This misreporting (under or over) of dietary intake remains one of the difficulties in validating estimates of food intake [Macdiarmid & Blundell 1997]. As earlier reported EI:BMR has been used as a guide to assess the accuracy of food records where EI:BMR < 1.2 is regarded as low energy intake for body weight maintenance [Goldberg et al 1991]. On the basis of the EI:BMR<1.2, Gregory et al [1990] and Kleges et al [1995] found under-reporting of energy intake of approximately 39% and 54% respectively in the national surveys of the DNSBA and NHANES II respectively. However, in the current study the EI:BMR < 1.55 was used and more than 4% of boys and 13.2% of girls showed under reporting of energy intake versus 90% boys and 80% girls over reporting energy intake. The EI:BMR (PAL) cut offs of <1.55 were used in the study as against <1.22 cut-offs to assume the physical activity of the 17-year-old adolescents because cut offs of <1.55 is the value defined by the WHO as a sedentary level of energy expenditure [FAO/WHO/UNU 19985]. This cut offs of <1.55 was equally used in support of earlier reports by Black [2000] that the cut offs of <1.55 are preferable when the energy expenditure or physical activity of a population is unknown. Furthermore, the cut offs of <1.55 have also been reported by Ballard-Barbash et al [1996], Körtzinger et al [1997], Briefel et al [1997], Price et al [1997], Gnardellis et al [1998], Goldberg & Black [1998], Joffe et al [2010] and Joffe et al [2012] as the most appropriate method in assessing reported energy intake.

The analysis of the Australian Children's Survey by Rangan et al [2011] shows that under reporting is associated with higher BMI, higher PAL, living in an urban location and a lower level of parental education while over reporting is associated with a lower BMI and lower PAL. Studies have shown that dietary intake and energy intake play a significant role in determining the BMI. Excessive energy is usually converted and stored as fat mass, a purposive risk factor for overweight/obesity and other likely health consequences. The current study showed no risk associated with dietary and energy intakes in overweight or obese adolescents in either gender. However, there was a high prevalence of overweight/obese among 17 year old adolescents, indicating a likelihood of stored fat mass but no significant risk with dietary intake and energy intake. Such null association agrees with most cited cross-sectional studies and cohort studies [Anounallah-Skhiri et al 2011; Grobbelaar et al 2013] because of bias methodologies encountered in reported energy intake – for example, reporting bias, measurement errors etc. [dos Santos et al 2010]. In FFQ small details such as the food source and description, preparation or cooking methods are usually ignored, even though these details play a significant role in the type of food consumed. One major flaw is dependency on the participant's memory in identifying the food consumed and the evaluation of portion sizes [Willett 1998; Gibson 2005]. Therefore, misreporting bias of food consumed by participant is common, which might not be intentional [Willett 1998]. Information obtained should be rough estimate of total food intake over the designated period of time.

Also, the association between dietary intake and energy intake with overweight is a complex inter-related complex system because of other influential risk factors mentioned earlier [Goedecke et al 2005; Kruger et al 2005]. The non inclusion of risk factors such as physical exercise that have been shown to be significantly associated with overweight, may limit the

significant outcome of this study [Aounallah-Skhiri et al 2011; Thivel et al 2013]. Studies show that high intensity physical exercise is significantly associated with high adolescent weight loss [Thivel et al 2012], which might be masking the real significant association with overweight in this study. The non inclusion of physical exercise might have contributed to the increased prevalence of overweight among the adolescents in Soweto, indicating overweight as an emerging health risk [Jinabhai et al 2003].

Earlier reports by Mela & Aaron [1997] indicated this variation in BMI and PAL to be linked to inaccurate information about dietary intake, especially when individuals perceive they are overweight even if they are not. This phenomenon of under reporting energy intake is not only common in overweight and obese individuals [Goldberg & Black 1998]. However, underweight subjects equally tend to over-report. For example, studies by Sigman et al [1989] found that most Kenyan children tend to report higher energy intake yet were underweight for their age. In addition, adolescents from under privileged socio-demographic locations may tend to over-report their energy intake when they are among their peers from high socio-demographic locations.

Under reporting may also be due to under-recording or failure of the respondents to record all the consumed or underestimate the foods consumed [Rangan et al 2011]. Previous reports by Macdiarmid & Blundell [1997] show that individuals tend to under report because they feel embarrassed about what they eat or guilty about providing information about specific foods or the amounts they consume. Although the daily intakes for both girls and boys exceeded the recommended daily allowance, the girls' energy intake was still lower than that of boys [Torun 2001; FAO/WHO/UNU 2001; Lambert et al 2004; Torun 2005].

The information from interviewer-led FFQ are usually vast and in certain populations the cognitive ability to provide accurate summary of food intake over a longer period is limited [Siebelink et al 201; Wrieden et al 2003; Crozier et al 2010; Siebelink et al 2011]. According to Macdiarmid & Blundell [1997] the use of biomarkers in validating the record of foods eaten is important and at the same time takes account of individual psychological attention. Behaviour, memory and perception involved in self-reporting must be cross checked. However, Behaviour, memory and perception was not assess in this study because of cost restrictions.

The problem why adolescent are less likely to have healthy weigh are due to interrelation of the factors associated with overweight/obesity risk. The individual level risks factors associated with overweight/obesity are inseparable from social, environment, community, and national risk factors. For example functional genes and environment associated with overweight/obesity were there and continue to be there as the vertical family lineage tree grows. Therefore, understanding the environment should also be a key factor. For example an adolescent with poor diet can increase the effects of functional genes, while a healthy lifestyle and early intervention will reduce the negative impact [Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute 2008]

## **6.0 CONCLUSION**

The daily dietary and energy intake among 17-year-old adolescents residing in Soweto were higher than the daily recommended reference allowance for 17 year olds [FAO/WHO/UNU 2001]. There was no associated risk between the energy intake and overweight. However, the survey indicated a high prevalence of both underweight and overweight 17-year-old Soweto adolescents. The study, therefore, highlights the need for a comprehensive nutrition programme focusing on good eating practices and a general healthy lifestyle among adolescents. South Africa, being already in the upper middle-income status, according to the GDP, needs an integrated surveillance system for both underweight and overweight adolescents to track adolescents' lifestyles. A surveillance monitoring systems such as the launching of a BMI measurement program in Soweto communities and schools with minimal harm but huge maximum benefits should be instituted. Other implementation include strategies of discouraging sedentary lifestyles and promoting physical activity and healthy eating habits among adolescents in Soweto. Programmes such as overweight/obesity media education talks, schools competition on activities on good dietary habits should be encourage. Furthermore, similar investigations in other settings outside of Soweto are needed to augment the scarce data and information on adolescents' dietary behaviour and overweight to support the epidemiologic utility of the study in sub-Saharan Africa.

## 7.0 REFERENCES

- ADA. 2013. Evidence Analysis Library. http://andevidencelibrary.com/topic.cfm?format\_tables=0&cat=3060&auth=1.
- Advertising Age. 2007. Soft Drinks and Obesity Global Threats to Diet and Health "Obesity Fear Frenzy Grips Industry " quoting Coca Cola Chief Creative Officer, Ms. Esther Lee, April 23, 2007.
- Allison DB, Zannolli R, Narayan KMV. 1999. The health care costs of obesity in the United States. American Journal of Public Health. 89(8): 1194–9.
- Anounallah-Skhiri TP, EIAti J, Eymard-Duvernay S, Landais E, Achour N, Delpeuch F, Romdlane HB, Marire B. 2011. Nutrition transition among adolescents of a south-Mediterranean country: dietary patterns, association with socio-economic factors, overweight and blood pressure. A cross-sectional study in Tunisia. Nutritional Journal; 10:38.
- Armstrong MEG, Lambert MI, Lambert EV. 2011. Secular trends in the prevalence of stunting, overweight and obesity among South African children (1994-2004). European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 65:835-840.
- Ayvaz G, Çimen AL. 2011. Methods for Body Composition Analysis in Adults. The Open Obesity Journal. 3: 62-69
- Ballard-Barbash R, Graubard I, Krebs-Smith SM, Schatzkin A, Thompson FE. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1996. Contribution of dieting to the inverse association between energy intake and body mass index.50(2):98-106.
- Bamidel JO, Asekun-Olarinmoye EO, Olajide FO, Abodunrin OL, Abodunrin OL.2011.
  Prevalence and Socio-demografic Determinants of Under-Weight and Pre-obesity among in -School Adolescents in Olorunda Local Goverment Area, Osun State, Nigeria.TAF Prev Med Bull. 10(4): 397-402.
- Barcelo A, Aedo C, Rajpathak S, Robles S. 2003. Bull. World health Organ. 81:19-27.
- Bauman AE, Reiss RS, Sallis JF, Wells JC, Loos RJF, Martin BW, Group FTLPASW. 2012. Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not? *Lancet*, 380:258-271
- Bellows L, Moore R. 2013. Childhood Obesity. Food and Nutrition Series Health. Fact Sheet No. 9.317.

- Bertram MY, Steyn K, Wentzel-Viljoen K, Tollman S, Hofman KJ.2012. Reducing the sodium content of high-salt foods: Effect on cardiovascular disease in South Africa. S Afr Med J .102(9):743-745.
- Black AE. 2000. Critical evaluation of energy intake using the Goldberg cut-off for energy intake:basal metabolic rate. A practical guide to its calculation, use and limitations. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 24(9):1119-30.
- Bloemberg BP, Kromhout D, Obermann-De Boer GL, Van Kampen-Donker M. 1989. The reproducibility of dietary intake data assessed with the cross-check dietary history method. Am. J. Epidemiol. 130, 1047–1056.
- Bradshaw D, Norman LS, Joubert J, Scheneider M, Nannam N, Groenewald P, Laubscher R, et al. 2007. Strengthening public health in south Africa: Building a stronger evidence base for improving the health of the nation. SAMJ. 97(8): 643-649
- Bray GA. 1985. Complications of Obesity. Annals of Internal Medicine. 103(6 pt 2):1052-1062
- Brettschneider A-K, Rosario AS, Ellert U. 2011. Validity and predictors of BMI derived from self-reported height and weight among 11- to 17-year-old German adolescents from the KiGGS study. BMC Research Notes, 4:414.
- Briefel RR, Sempos CT, McDowell, MA, Chien C-Y, Alaimo K.1997.Dietary methods research in the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: under-reporting of energy intake. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 65(suppl. 4): 1203S–1209S.
- Buchowski MS, Sun M. 1996.Energy expenditure, television viewing and obesity. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 20(3):236-244.
- Bundy DAP, Shaeffer S, Jukes M et al. 2006. "School–Based Health and Nutrition Programs."2006. Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries (2nd Edition), 1,091-1,108. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Butte NF, Editor S, Motil KJ, Editor D, Hoppin AG. 2012. Dietary energy requirements in adolescents. Topic 5351 Version 7.0
- Caulfield LE, Richard SA, Rivera JA, Musgrove P, Black RE. 2008. Stunting, Wasting, and Micronutrient Deficiency Disorders. Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries.
  2nd edition. Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR, et al., editors. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2006.

- Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2011. School Health Guidelines to Promote Healthy Eating and Physical Activity.MMWR. 60(5):1-80
- Chagnon YC, Rankienen T, Snyder EE, Weisnagel SJ, Perusse L. 2002. The human obesity gene map: the 2002 update. Obesity Res. 11:313–67.
- Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. 2000. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ. 6;320(7244):1240-3.
- Coll AP, Farooqi IS, O'Rahilly S. 2007. The Hormonal Control of Food Intake. Cell. 129(2): 251-262.
- Cook II, Alberts MM, Brits JSJ, Choma SRS, Mkhonto SSS: 2010. Descriptive epidemiology of ambulatory activity in rural, black South Africans. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 42:1261-1268.
- Copeland KC. 1999. Working Group Session Report: Special Considerations in Trials Involving Children1. J. Nutr. 129: 315S–316S.
- Comuzzie AG. 2002. The emerging pattern of the genetic contribution to human obesity. Best Practice and Research. Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 16:. 611–621
- Cornier MA, Tate CW, Grunwald GK, Bessesen DH. 2002. Relationship between Waist Circumference, Body Mass Index, and Medical Care Costs. Obes Res. 10(11):1167-72.
- Crozier SR, Inskip HM, Barker ME, Lawrence WT, Cooper C, Robinson SM. 2010. Development of a 20-item food frequency questionnaire to assess a 'prudent' dietary pattern among young women in Southampton. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 64(1): 99-104.
- Crozier SR, MInskip H, Barker ME, Lawrence WT, Cooper C, Robinson SM, the SWS Study Group. 2010 Development of a 20-item food frequency questionnaire to assess a 'prudent' dietary pattern among young women in Southampton. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 64, 99–104.
- Crowther NJ. 2009. Factors predisposing to obesity: a review of the literature. JEMDSA. 14(2):81-84.
- Davison KK, Birch LL. 2001. Childhood overweight: a contextual model and recommendations for future research. Obesity Reviews. 2(3):159-171.
- Department of Basic Education (DOBE). 2013. National School Nutrition Programme (Access Saturday 22, February, 2014)

- de Lauzon-Guillain B, Basdevant A, Romon M, Karlsson J, Borys J-M, Charles AL, The FLVS Study Group. 2006. Is restrained eating a risk factor for weight gain in a general population 1,2 3. Am J Clin Nutr. 83(1): 132-138.
- de Onis M, Blössner M, Borghi E. 2010. Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 92: 1257-1264.

De Villiers K. 2011. Label Law get teeth. Milk & Juice June 09, 2011.

- Dennis LK, Snetselaar LG, Nothwehr FK, Stewart RE. 2003. Developing a scoring method for evaluating dietary methodology in reviews of epidemiologic studies. J Am Diet Assoc. 103(4):483-7.
- Dietz WH, Robinson TN. 1998. Use of the body mass index (BMI) as a measure of overweight in children and adolescents. J Pediatr.132:191-3.
- du Toit G, Funnell I. & Partners. 2010. Two in every 3 South Africans are overweight Durban Barbaric Surgery. GlaxoSmithkline, Health24, September 2010 http://www.durbanbariatricsurgery.co.za/?p=137
- dos Santos LC, Pascoal MN, Fisberg M, sa de P. Cintra, Martini LA. 2010. Misreporting of dietary energy intake in adolescents. J Pediatr (Rio J). 86(5):400-404.
- Feeley A, Pettifor JM, Norris SA. 2009. Fast-food consumption among 17-year-olds in the Birth to Twenty cohort. S Afr J Clin Nutr. 22(3):118-123.
- Feeley A, Musengue E, Pettifor JM, Norris SA. 2012. Changes in dietary habits and eating practices in adolescents living in urban South Africa: The Birth to twenty cohort. Nutrition. (7-8):e1-6
- Feeley ABB .2012a. The impact of dietary habits and practices during adolescence on the risk of obesity: the birth to twenty cohort. PhD Thesis, University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa.
- Feeley ABB. 2012c. The impact of dietary habits and practices during adolescence on the risk of obesity: the birth to twenty cohort. PhD Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa.
- Flegal KM, Ogden CL. 2011. Childhood obesity: Are we speaking the same language. Adv. Nutr. 2: 159s-166s.

Freedman DS, Khan LK, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. 2001. Relationship of

childhood overweight to coronary heart disease risk factors in adulthood: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics. *108:*712–718.

- Freedman DS, Mei Z, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS, Dietz WH. 2007. Cardiovascular risk factors and excess adiposity among overweight children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. J Pediatr. 150(1):12—17.e2.
- Freedman DS, Kahn HS, Mei Z, Grummer-Strawn LM, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. 2007. Relation of body mass index and waist-to-height ratio to cardiovascular disease risk factors in children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 86(1):33-40.
- Fricker J, Fumeron F, Clair D, Apfelbaum M.1989. A positive correlation between energy intake and body mass index in a population of 1312 overweight subjects. Int J Obes. 13(5):673-81.
- FAO, WFP and IFAD. 2012. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 2012. Economic growth necessary but not sufficient to accelerate reduction of hunger and malnutrition. Rome, FAO.
- FAO/WHO/UNU. 1985. Energy and protein requirements. Report of a Joint FAO/WHO/UNU consultation. Technical Report Series 724. World Health Organization: Geneva, 1985
- FAO/WHO Handbook on human nutritional requirements. 1974. Nutrition Reviews. 33(5):147–157
- FAO/WHO/UNU, 2001. Human energy requirement. Report of the joint FAO/WHO/UNU. Rome, 17-24 October, 2001.
- Farooqi AG. 2005. Genetic and hereditary aspects of childhood obesity. Best Practice and Research. Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 19(3): 359–374

Flatt J-P. 1995. Use and storage of carbohydrate and fat. Am J Clin Nuir. 61(suppl):952S-95.

- Frost AL, Nes M, Lillegaard IT, Sandstad B, Bjorneboe G, Drevon CA. 1995. Evaluation of a quantitative food frequency questionnaire used in a group of Norwegian adolescents. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 49: 543-554.
- Gibson RS. 2005. Principles of Nutritional Assessment, second edition. New York: Oxford University Press, 928 p.

- Gnardellis C, Boulou C, Trichopoulou A.1998.Magnitude, determinants and impact of under reporting of energy intake in a cohort study in Greece. Public Health Nutr. 1: 131–137.
- Goedecke JH, Jennings CL, Lambert EV. 2005. Obesity in South Africa: Chronic diseases of lifestyle in south Africa. Pp 65-79.
- Goldberg GR, Black AE. 1998. Assessment of the validity of energy intake: review and recent developments. Scand J Nutr/Naringsforskning.. 42: 6-9.
- Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Popkin BM. 2003. The Relationship of Ethnicity, Socioeconomic Factors, and Overweight in U.S. Adolescents<sup>-</sup> Obesity Research. 11: 121–129.
- Gorstein J, Sullivan KM, Parvanta I, Begin F. 2007. Indicators and methods for cross-sectional surveys of vitamin and mineral status of populations. Micronutrient Initiative (Ottawa) and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (Atlanta), May 2007, pg 29).
- Gortmaker SL, Must A, Perrin JM, Dietz WH. 1993. Social and economic consequences of overweight in adolescences and young childhood. N Engl J Med. 329:1008-1012.
- Gregory J, Foster K, Tyler K, Wiseman M. 1990. The Dietary and Nutritional Survey of British Adults. HMSO: London.
- Grobbelaar HH,; Napier CE, Oldewage-Theron .20103. Nutritional status and food intake data on children and adolescents in residential care facilities in Durban. S Afr J Clin Nutr.26(1):29-36
- Grundy SM. 2000. Metabolic Complications of Obesity. Endocrine, 13(2): 155–165.
- Gubbels JS, Kremers SPJ, Stafleu A, de Vries SI, Goldbohm RA, Dagnelie PC, de Vries NK, van Buuren S, Thijs C. 2011. Association between parenting practices and children's dietary intake, activity behavior and development of body mass index: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2011, 8:18
- Guedes DP, Rocha GD, Silva AJ, Carvalhal IM, Coelho EM. 2011. Effects of social and environmental determinants on overweight and obesity among Brazilian schoolchildren from a developing region. Rev. Panam. Salud Publica. 30(4):295-302.
- Haffman DJ, Sawaya AL, Verreschi I, Tucker KL, Roberts SB. 2000. Why are nutritionally stunted children at increased risk of obesity? Studies of metabolic rate and fat oxidation in Shanytown children from Sao Paulo., Brazil 1'2'3. AM. Clin. Nutr. 72(3): 702-707.
- Han JC, Lawlor DA, Kimm SY. 2010. Childhood obesity. Lancet. 15 375(9727):1737-1748.

- Hinney J & Hebebrand A. 2009. Environmental and genetic risk factors in obesity. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am. 18(1):83-94.
- Hedley AA, Ogden CL, Johnson CL, Caroll MD, Curtin LR, Flegal KM. 2004. Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity among US Children, Adolescents, and Adults, 1999-2002. JAMA. 291(23):2847-2850.
- Hoffmann K, Bryl W, Marcinkowski JT, Rzesos A, Wojtyla E, Pupek-Musialik D. 2012.
  Dietary behaviours of adolescents from urban and rural areas in the district of Szamotuły
  a preliminary study. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine. 23;19(1):103-7.
- Institute of Medicine (IOM). 2002. Dietary reference intakes for energy, carbohydrate, fiber, fat, fatty acids, cholesterol, protein, and amino acids, National Academies Press, Washington, DC 2002.
- International Obesity Task Force (IOTF). 2005. Obesity the policy, challenges. Technical Report, Ireland 12 March 2008.
- Institute of Medicine. 2005. Dietary reference intakes for energy, carbohydrate, fiber, fat fatty acids, cholesterol, protein and amino acids. The National Academic Press. Washington DC. www.nao.edu. Pp 110-1272.
- Jacobs S, de Ridder JH. 2012. Prevalence Of Overweight And Underweight Among Black South African Children From Rural Areas In The North-West Province. South African Journal for Research in Sport, Physical Education and Recreation. 34(2): 41-51.
- Jinabhai CC, Taylor M, Sullivan KR. 2003. Implications of the prevalence of stunting, overweight and obesity amongst South African primary school children: a possible nutritional transition? Eur J Clin Nutr. 57(2):358-365.
- Joffe YT, van der Merwe L, Carstens M, Collins M, Jennings C, Levitt NS, Lambert EV, Goedecke JH.2010. Tumor Necrosis Factor-a Gene -308 G/A Polymorphism Modulates the Relationship between Dietary Fat Intake, Serum Lipids, and Obesity Risk in Black South African Women1,2. J. Nutr. 140: 901–907.
- Joffe YT, van der Merwe L, Evans J, Collins M, Lambert EV, September A, Goedecke JH. 2012. The tumor necrosis factor-a gene -238G4A polymorphism, dietary fat intake, obesity risk and serum lipid concentrations in black and white South African women. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. **66**:1295-1302.

- Jolliffe CJ, Janssen I.2006.Vascular risks and management of obesity in children and adolescents. Vascular Health and Risk Management. 2(2): 171–187
- Joubert J, Norman R, Bradshaw D, Goedecke JH, Steyn, NP, Puoane T. 2007. Estimating the burden of disease attributable to excess body weight in South Africa in 2000. South Africa Medical Journal. 97(8):683-690.
- Kelly TL, Wilson KE, Heymsfield SB. 2009. Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry Body Composition Reference Values from NHANES. PLoS ONE 4(9).
- Kerac M, Blencowe H, Grijalva-Eternod C, McGrath M, Shoham J, Cole TJ, Seal A. 2011.
   Prevalence of wasting among under 6-month-old infants in developing countries and implications of new case definitions using WHO growth standards: a secondary data analysis. Arch Dis Child. 96:1008-1013.
- Kleges RC, Eck LH, Ray JW. 1995. Who under reports dietary intake in a dietary recall?Evidence from the second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. J. Cons.Clin. Psych. 63 (3): 438-444
- Kimani-Murage EW, Kahn K, Pettifor JM, Tollman SM, Dunger DB, Gómez-Olivé XF, Norris SA. 2010. The prevalence of stunting, overweight and obesity, and metabolic disease risk in rural South African children. BMC Public Health. 10:158.
- Kohlmeier L, Mendez M, McDuffie J, Miller M. 1997. Computer-assisted self-interviewing: a multimedia approach to dietary assessment. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 65, 1275S–1281S.
- Körtzinger I. Bierwag A, Mast M, Müller MJ.1997. Dietary underreporting: validity of dietary measurements of energy intake using a 7-day dietary record and a diet history in nonobese subjects. Ann. Nutr. Metab. 41: 37
- Krebs NF, Himes JH, Jacobson D, Nicklas TA, Guilday P, Styne D. 2007. Assessment of Child and Adolescent Overweight and Obesity. Pediatrics. 120(4): S193 -S228
- Kromeyer-Hauschild K, Wabitsch M, Kunze D, Geller F, Geiß HC, Hesse V, von Hippel A, Jaeger U, Johnson D, Korte W, et al: 2001. [Percentiles of body mass index in children and adolescents evaluated from different regional German studies. Monatsschrift Kinderheilkunde. 149:807-818.
- Kruger HS, Puoane T, Senekal M, van der Merwe MT. 2005. Obesity in South Africa: challenges for government and health professionals. Public Health Nutr. 8(5):491-500.
- Lambert J, Agostoni C, Elmadfa I, Hulshof K, Krause E, Livingstone B, Socha P, Pannemans D,

Samartin S. 2004. Dietary intake and nutritional status of children and adolescents in Europe. Br J Nutr . 2(Suppl 2): S147-211.

- Langenhoven ML, Conradie PJ,. Wolmarans P, Faber M. Parow, 1991. MRC Food Quantities Manual. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition ed. 1991, Cape Town: South African Medical Research Council.
- Labadarios D, Steyn NP, Maunder EMW, et al. 2005. The National Food Consumption Survey (NFCS): South Africa, 1999. Public Health Nutr. 8(5):533–543.
- Labadarios D, Steyn NP, Mgijima C & Dladla N .2005. Review of the South African nutrition policy 1994–2002 and targets for 2007: achievements and challenges. Nutrition. 21: 100–108.
- Lambert E, Weitz W, Charlton K, Lambert M, Kubukeli Z, Keytel L, *et al.* 2000. Health and fitness survey in adolescent school children in the Western Cape: relationship to body mass index and obesity. Nutrition Society and Association for Dietetics in Southern Africa Congress, From Lab to Land. Durban, 15 18 August 2000.
- Lee YS. 2009. The role of leptin-melanocortin system and human weight regulation: lessons from experiments of nature. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 38(1):34-11.
- Lee YS. 2009. Commentary: Consequences of Childhood Obesity. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 38:75-81
- Loos RJF, Bouchard C. 2003. Obesity is it a genetic disorder? J Intern Med; 254:401–25.
- MacIntyre UE, Venter CS, Vorster HH. 2000. A culture-sensitive quantitative food frequency questionnaire used in an African population: 2. Relative validation by 7-day weighed records and biomarkers. Public Health Nutrition. 4(1): 63-71.
- MacIntyre UE, Kruger HS, Venter CS, Vorster HH. 2002. Dietary intakes of an African population in different stages of transition in the North West Province, South Africa: the THUSA study. Nutrition Research. 22; 239-256.
- Mamabolo RM, Alberts M, Steyn NP, Delemarre-van de Waal HA, Levitt NS. 2005. Prevalence determinants of stunting and overweight in 3-year-old black South African children residing in the Central Region of Limpopo Province, South Africa. Public Health Nutrition: 8(5), 501–508
- Mathews VL, Wien M, Sabaté J. 2011. The risk of child and adolescent overweight is related to types of food consumed. Nutrition Journal. 10:71
- Mayosi BM, Flisher AJ, Lalloo UG, Sitas F, Tollman SM, Bradshaw D. 2009. The burden of

non-communicable diseases in South Africa. The Lancet, 374(9693): 934-947.

- Macdiarmid JI, Blundell JE. 1997. Dietary under-reporting: what people say about recording their food intake. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 51: 199-200
- McVeigh JA, Norris SA, De Wet T. 2004. The relationship between socio-economic status and physical activity patterns in South African children. Acta Paediatr. 93:982-988.
- Mela DJ, Aaron JI. 1997. Honest but invalid: what subjects say about recording their food intake. Journal of American Dietetic Association. 97(7):791-793
- Mendez MA, Monteiro CA, Popkin BM 2005 Overweight exceeds underweight among women in most developing countries. Am J Clin Nutr 81:714–721
- Misra A, Khurana L, 2008. Obesity and the Metabolic Syndrome in Developing Countries. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 93(11) Supplement 1 s9-s30
- Micklesfield lk, Goedecke JH, Punyanitya M, Wilson KE, Kelly T. 2012. Dual-Energy X-Ray Performs as Well as Clinical Computed Tomography for the Measurement of Visceral Fat. Obesity (2012) doi:10.1038/oby.2011.367.
- Micklesfield LK, Pedro TM, Kahn K, Kinsman J, Pettifor JM, Tollman S, Norris SN. 2014.Physical activity and sedentary behavior among adolescents in rural South Africa: levels, patterns and correlates. BMC Public Health. 14:40
- Monyeki KD, Monyeki MA, Brits SJ, Kemper HC, Makgae PJ. 2008. Development and tracking of body mass index from preschool age into adolescence in rural South African children: Ellisras Longitudinal Growth and Health Study. J Health Popul Nutr. 26(4):405-17.
- Moreno LA, Fleta J, Sarria A & Bueno 2001. Prevalence and trends in childhood obesity in Zaragoza (Spain). (Letter to the Editor.) bmj.com, 2 February.
- Moselakgomo VK, Toriola AL, Shaw BS, Goon DT, Akinyemi O. 2012.Body mass index, overweight, and blood pressure among adolescent schoolchildren in Limpopo province, South Africa.Rev Paul Pediatr. 30(4):562-9.
- Mo-suwan L, Tongkumchum P, Puetpaiboon A. 2000. Determinants of overweight tracking from childhood to adolescents a 5y follow up study of Hat Yai schoolchildren. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 24(12):1642-7.
- MRC, 2002. FoodFinder<sup>™</sup>3 software application, Version 1. Developers: Nutritional

Intervention Research Unit and Research Information Systems Division of the Medical Research Council, and Wam Technology CC, Parow Valley, South Africa: Medical Research Council.

- Nel J, Steyn JP. 2002. Report on South African food consumption studies undertaken among different population groups (1983 - 2000): average intakes of foods most commonly consumed. Pretoria: Department of Health, 2002
- NIH. 2005. Teacher's guide: Information about Energy Balance. National Institute of Health (NIH). http://science.education.nih.gov/supplements/nih4/energy/guide/info-energy-balance.htm
- Norman R, Bradshaw D, Schneider M, Pieterse D, Groenewald P. 2006. Revised Burden of Disease Estimates for the Comparative Risk Factor Assessment, South Africa 2000. Cape Town: Medical Research Council, 2006
- Omran AR. 1971. The epidemiologic transition. A theory of the epidemiology of population change. Milbank Memorial Fund Quarterly, 49:509–538.

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). 2012. Obesity Update. 2012

OECD. 2011. "Overweight and obesity", in OECD. Factbook 2011-2012: Economic,

Environmental and Social Statistics, OECD http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/factbook-2011-109-en

- OECD/WHO. 2012. Health at a Glance: Asia/Pacific 2012. 27 Nov 2012. DOI : 10.1787/23054964. (Accessed in June 29, 2013)
- Peltzer K: 2009. Health behavior and protective factors among school children in four african countries. Int J Behav Med, **16:**172-180.
- Piccoli A, Pillon L, Dumler F. 2002. Impedance Vector Distribution by Sex, Race, Body Mass Index, and Age in the United States: Standard Reference Intervals as Bivariate Z Scores. Nutrition 18:153–167.
- Pinhas-Hamiel O, Dolan LM, Daniels SR, Standiford D, Khoury PR, Zeitler P.1996. Increased incidence of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus among adolescents. J Pediatr.128:608-615.
- Popkin BM, Gordon-Larsen P.2004. The nutrition transition: worldwide obesity dynamics and their determinants. International Journal of Obesity (2004) 28, S2–S9.
- Puoane T, Steyn K, Bradshaw D, Lauhscher R, Fourie J, Lambert E et al. 2002. Obesity in South

Africa. The South Africa demographic and health survey. Obes. Res. 10:1038-1048.

- Pouane T, Hughes G. 2005. Impact of HIV/AIDS pandemic on non-communicable disease prevention. SAMJ. 95(4): 228-229.
- Price GM, Paul AA, Cole TJ, Wadsworth MEJ. 1997. Characteristics of the low-energy reporters in a longitudinal national dietary survey. British Journal of Nutrition. 77, 833-851 833.
- Rangan AM, Flood VM, Gill TP. 2011. Misreporting of Energy Intake in the 2007 Australian Children's Survey: Identification, Characteristics and Impact of Misreporters. Nutrients. 3:186-199.
- Reddy SP, Resnicow K, James S, Kambaran N, Omardien R, MBewu AD. 2008. Underweight, overweight and obesity among South African adolescents: results of the 2002 National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey. Public Health Nutrition: 12(2), 203–207.
- Reddy SP, Resnicow K, James S, Kambaran N, Omardien R, Mbewu AD. 2009. Underweight, overweight and obesity among South African adolescents: results of the 2002 National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey. Public Health Nutr. 12(2):203-7.
- Reddy SP, Resnicow K, James S, Funani IN, Kambaran NS, Omardien RG, Masuka P, Sewpaul R, Vaughan RD, Mbewu A. 2012. Rapid Increases in Overweight and Obesity Among South African Adolescents: Comparison of Data From the South African National Youth Risk Behaviour Survey in 2002 and 2008. American Journal of Public Health. 102(2):262-268.
- Report of the joint WHO/FAO expert consultation. 2003. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. WHO Technical Report Series, No. 916 (TRS 916)
- Richter L, Norris S, Pettifor J, Yach D. 2007. Cameron N. Cohort Profile: Mandela's children: the 1990 Birth to Twenty study in South Africa. Int J Epidemiol; 36:504–11.
- Rossouw HA, Grant CC, Viljoen M. 2012. Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents: The South African problem. South African Journal of Science; 108 (5/6):1-7.

Relman DA. 2013. Undernutrition—Looking Within for Answers Science. 339 (6119): 530-532

Rockett HR, Wolf AM, Colditz GA.1995. Development and reproducibility of a food frequency questionnaire to assess diets of older children and adolescents. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. **95**, 336-340.

- Rudolf M. 2009. Tackling Obesity through the Healthy Child Programme: a Framework for Action. Available at http://www.noo.org.uk/mary\_rudolf (accessed on 4 October 2011).
- Runge CF. 2007. Economic consequences of the obese. Diabetes. 56(11): 2668-2672
- Schofield C.1985. An annotated bibliography of source material for basal metabolic rate data. Hum Nutr Clin Nutr, 39 Suppl 1:42.
- Scott C. 2005. Misconceptions about Aerobic and Anaerobic Energy Expenditure. J Int Soc Sports Nutr. 2(2): 32–37.
- Severo M, Lopes C, Lucas R, Barros H. 2009. Development of a tool for the assessment of calcium and vitamin D intakes in clinical settings. Osteoporosis Int 20, 231–237.
- Shisana O, Labadarios D, Rehle T, Simbayi L, Zuma K, Dhansay A, Reddy P, Parker W, Hoosain E, Naidoo P, Hongoro C, Mchiza Z, Steyn NP, Dwane N, Makoae M, Maluleke T,Ramlagan S, Zungu N, Evans MG, Jacobs L, Faber M, & SANHANES-1 Team (2013) South African National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (SANHANES-1). Cape Town: HSRC Press. 2013
- Siebelink E, Geelen A, de Vries JH. 2011. Self-reported energy intake by FFQ compared with actual energy intake to maintain body weight in 516 adults. Br J Nutr. 106(2):274-81.
- Sigman M, Neumann C, Jansen AA, Bwibo N. 1989. Cognitive abilities of Kenyan children in relation to nutrition, family characteristics, and education. Child Dev. 60: 1463-1474.
- Sjostrom L. 1993. Impacts of body weight, body composition and adipose tissue distribution on morbidity and mortality. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed In: Stunkard AJ, Wafdden TA, Editors. Obesity, theory and therapy. Philadelphia Lippincott Raven Publishers p 13-42.
- South African Heart and Stroke Foundation (SAHSF). 2014. Salt is killing South Africans and it s time to take action See more at: http://www.heartfoundation.co.za/media-releases/salt-killing-south-africans-and-it-time-take-action#sthash.WAtoyjYR.dpuf (Access Saturday 22, February, 2014)
- Stang J, Story M. 2005. eds. Guidelines for adolescent nutrition services. Minneapolis, MN: Center for Leadership, Education and Training in Maternal and Child Nutrition, Division of Epidemiology and Community Health, School of Public Health, University of Minnesota; 2005. Pp. 22-34
- Stice E, Presnell K, Shaw H, Rohde P . 2005. Psychological and behavioral risk factors for obesity onset in adolescent girls: a prospective study. J Consult Clin Psychol. 73(2):195-202.
- Steyn NP, Abercrombie R, Labadarios, D. 2001. Food Security –An update for health

professionals. The South African Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 40(3):98-102.

- Steyn N, Senekal M. 2005. A guide for the use of the dietary assessment and education kit (DAEK). 2005. Cape Town, South Africa: Medical Research Council.
- Steyn NP, Labadarios D, Maunder E, Nel J, Lombard C. 2005. Secondary anthropometric data analysis of the National Food Consumption Survey in South Africa: the double burden. Nutrition. 21:4-13.
- Steyn NP, Nel JH. 2006. Dietary intake of adult women in South Africa and Nigeria with a focus on the Use of spreads. Chronic Diseases of Lifestyle Unit Medical Research Council, South Africa.
- Steyn NP, Bradshaw D, Norman R, Joubert J, Schneider M, Steyn K. 2006. Dietary changes and the health transition in South Africa: Implications for health policy, Cape Town: South African Medical Research Council (MRC).
- Steyn NP, Senekal M, Norris SA, Whati L, MacKeown JM, Nel JH.2006. How well do adolescents determine portion sizes of foods and beverages? Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition 15 (1), 35-42.
- Sturn R. 2002. The Effects of obesity, smoking, and drinking on medical problems and costs. Health Affairs. 21: 245-253
- Swinburn BA, Caterson I, Seidell JC, James WP. 2004. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of excess weight gain and obesity. Public Health Nutr. 7(1A):123-46.
- Tarnopolsky MA. 2003. Females and males: should nutritional recommendations be gender specific? Swiss Journal of sports medicine and Sports Traumatology. 51 (1): 39–46
- Taylor RW, Jones JE, Williams SM, Goulding A. 2002. Body fat percentages measured by dualenergy X-ray absorptiometry corresponding to recently recommended body mass index cutoffs for overweight and obesity in children and adolescents aged 3–18 y<sup>1–3</sup>. Am J Clin Nutr 76:1416–21.
- Temple NJ, Steyn NP, Myburgh NG, Nel JH. 2006.Food items consumed by students attending schools in different socioeconomic areas in Cape Town, South Africa.Nutrition.22:252-8.
- Thivel D, Isacco L, Montaurier C, Boirie Y, Duche´P, Morio B. 2012. The 24-h Energy Intake of Obese Adolescents Is Spontaneously Reduced after Intensive Exercise: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Calorimetric Chambers. PLoS ONE 7(1): e29840.

Thompson FE, Subar AF. 2008. Dietary Assessment Methodology. Nutrition in the Prevention

and Treatment of Disease, 2nd ed. National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, Maryland. 2008 pp 1-39.

- Toriola AL, Moselakgomo VK, Shaw BS, Goon DT. 2012. Overweight, obesity and underweight in rural black South African children. S AfrJ Clin Nutr. 25(2):57-62
- Torun B. 2001. Energy requirements of children and adolescents. Background paper prepared for the joint FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consultation on Energy in Human Nutrition, 2001.
- Torun B. 2005. Energy requirements of children and adolescents. Public Health Nutrition. 8(&A): 968-993.
- Tooze JA, Krebs-Smith SM, Troiano RP, Subar AF. 2012. The accuracy of the Goldberg method for classifying misreporters of energy intake on a food frequency questionnaire and 24-h recalls: comparison with doubly labeled water. Eur J Clin Nutr. 66(5):569-76.
- Tur JA, Puig MS, Benito E, Pons A. 2004. Associations between socio-demographic and lifestyle and dietary quality among adolescents in Palma de Mallorca. Nutrition. 20, 502-508.
- United Nations. 2012. Childinfo.org: Statistics by area / child nutrition / undernutrition / progress. 2012. Accessed March 6, 2012.
- van Beresteyn EC, van't Hof AM, van der Heiden-Winkeldermaat HJ, ten Have-Witjes A, Neeter R. 1987. Evaluation of the usefulness of the cross-check dietary history method in longitudinal studies. J. Chronic. Dis. 40, 1051–1058.
- van Liere MJ, Lucas F, Clavel F, Slimani N, Villeminot S. 1997. Relative validity and reproducibility of a French dietary history questionnaire. Int. J. Epidemiol.26(suppl 1), S128–S136.
- van der Merwe MT, Schlaphoff GP, Crowther NJ, Boyd IH, Gray IP, Lonnroth PN. 2001. Lactate and glycerol release from adipose tissue in lean, obese, and diabetic women from South Africa. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 86(7):3296-303.
- Van der Merwe MT. 2006. Excellent in obesity management. Technical Report. Bariatric Centre of Excellent, 1-82, 1 September, 2008
- Vicente-Rodríguez G, Rey-López JP, Martín-Matillas M, Moreno LA, Wärnberg J, Redondo C, Tercedor P, Delgado M, Marcos A, Castillo M, Bueno M; AVENA Study Group. 2008.
  Television watching, videogames, and excess of body fat in Spanish adolescents: the AVENA study. Nutrition. 24(7-8):654-62.

- Vartanian LR, Schwartz MB, Brownell KD. 2007. Effects of Soft Drink Consumption on Nutrition and Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis, American Journal of Public Health, April 2007, Vol. 97, No. 4.
- Vidulich L, Norris SA, Cameron N, Pettifor JM. 2006. Ethnic differences in bone mass in 10 year old South African children. Osteopor Internat .17:433–40.
- Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute. 2008. "Obesity All In Your Head? Brain Genes Associated With Increased Body Mass." ScienceDaily, 15 Dec. 2008.
- Wiecha JL, Peterson KE, Ludwig DS, Kim J, Sobol A, Gortmaker SL.2006. When children eat what they watch: impact of television viewing on dietary intake in youth. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.160(4):436-442.
- Wilkinson D, McCargar L. 2008. Prevention of Overweight and Obesity in Young Canadian Children Canadian. Council of Food and Nutrition. Mississauga, Ontario L4W 4X7 CANADA.: www.ccfn.ca. May 2008
- Willett WC. 1998. Nutritional Epidemiology 2nd edition. Oxford university Press, New York, 514 p.
- Willet W. 1990. Nutritional epidemiology: monographs in epidemiology and biostatics, volume15. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wireden W, Peace H, Amstrong J, Barton K. 2003. A short review of the dietary assessment methods used in National and Scottish Research Studies. Working group on monitoring Scottish Dietary target workshop. September, 2003.
- Whitlock EP, Williams SB, Gold R, Smith PR, Shipman SA. Screening and interventions for childhood overweight: a summary of evidence for the US Preventive Services Task Force. Pediatrics. 2005;116(1):e125—144
- World Cancer Research Fund (WCRF)/American Institute for Cancer Research (AIRC). 1997.
   Food, Nutrition and the Prevention of Cancer: a Global perspective. Washington DC: WCRF/AICR
- WHO. 2007. Prevention of cardiovacular disease. World Health Organization, Genewa Switzerland, 2007.
- WHO.2013.Obesity and overweight Fact sheet N°311: Updated March 2013 http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/ (Accessed 02/07/2013)

- WHO.2012.Obesity and overweight. Fact sheet N°311, May 2012. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/index.html (Accessed in May 28, 2012)
- WHO. 2009. Global Health Risk: Mortality and Burden of disease attributable to selected major risks. Geneva. Switzerland. WHO. 2009.
- WHO. 2008. Controlling the global obesity epidemic. Availableat: <u>http://www.who.int/nutrition/topics/obesity/en/index.html</u>. Last accessed July 2008
- WHO. 2000. Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of WHO consultation.
- WHO.2000. WHO Technical Report Series No. 894. Geneva WHO, 2000.
- Wolmarans, P., Langenhoven, M.L., Benade, A.J.S., Swanepoel, A.S.P., Kotze, T.J.v.W., and J.E. Rossouw.1988. Intake of macronutrients and their relationship with total cholesterol and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. The Coronary Risk Factor Study, 1979. South African Medical Journal, 73, 12-15.
- Wrieden W, Peace H, Armstrong J, Barton K. 2003. A short review of dietary assessment methods used in National and Scottish Research Studies. Briefing Paper Prepared for: Working Group on Monitoring Scottish Dietary Targets Workshop, September 2003
- Yach D, Stuckler D, Brownell KD. 2006. Epidemiologic and economic consequences of the global epidemics of obesity and diabetes. Nature Medicine. 12:62-66.
- Zingoni C, Norris SA, Graffiths PL, Cameron N. 2009. Studying a population undergoing nutrition transition: a practical case study of dietary assessment in urban South African adolescents. Ecol Food Nutr, 48(3): 178-198.

## 8.0. APPENDICES

Generic Sketch (look up)	A. Food items (with FPM numbers)	B. Description of food item	Tick for yes	C. Item code	D. Amount usually eaten(g) Generic/amou nt = g	E. Eaten every day	F. Eaten every week	G. Eaten Occas ionall y	H. Never eaten	Grams (g) /day
						Times/	Times/			
						day	week			
	DAIRY-BLUE									
	1.Tea	Ordinary		4038						
		Herbal		4053						
		Rooibos		4054						
	1. Sugar in tea			3989						
	2. Milk in tea	Full cream		2718						
		Low fat 2%		2772						
		Skim fat free		2775						
		Other								
	1. Coffee			4037						

Appendix I: Abstract of the quantitative FFQ Table dietary intake used in the study (For more information contact DPHRU, Wits).

	2. Milk in coffee	Full cream	2718		
		Low fat 2%	2772		
		Skim fat free	2775		
		Other			
	2. Sugar in coffee		3989		
	2. Milk as a drink	Full cream	2718		
		Low fat 2%	2772		
		Skim fat free	2775		
	3. Buttermilk/maas	Buttermilk	2713		
	<b>Dutter mins, mau</b> s	Maas	2787		
	4. Milk drinks, flavoured				
X	5. Yoghurt	Fruit, LF, sweetened	2732		
		Plain LF	2734		

Appendix II: Quantitative derived scoring of dietary intake (Further information contact DPHRU, Wits).

In a review undertaken by Dennis et al (2003, the authors devised a scoring system to denote the quality of the FFQ used as a dietary intake tool. Nine categories were assessed and include:

- 1. Did the instrument have a quantitative element?
  - a. 0 pts = frequency only
  - b. 1 pt = frequency (and amount)
  - c. 2 pts = quantitative
  - d. Possible score: 2 pts
- 2. How many food items were measured by the FFQ?
  - a. 0 pts = not stated
  - b. 1 pt = <=70 items
  - c. 2 pts = 71 110 items
  - d. 3 pts = 111 150 items
  - e. 4 pts = >150 items
  - f. Possible score 4 pts
- 3. Was the FFQ completed by in interviewer?
  - a. 0 pts = not stated
  - b. 1 pt = self
  - c. 2 pts = interviewer
  - d. Possible score 2 pts
- 4. Was the FFQ pretested in the study population?
  - a. 0 pts = not stated
  - **b.** 1 pts = yes
  - c. Possible score 1 pt
- 5. Was the FFQ used a validated instrument?
  - a. 0 pts = not stated
  - b. 2 pts = yes or ref use of validated tool
  - c. Possible score of 2 pts
- 6. Was the nutrient database used to code the FFQ specified or referenced?
  - a. 0 pts = not stated
  - **b.** 1 pt = yes
  - c. Possible score of 1 pt
- 7. Was any measure of quality control described in the article?
  - a. 0 pts = not stated
  - b. **1** pt = any measure stated [e.g. reviewing questionnaire for missing items, clarifying ambiguous responses, or spot checking by a second interviewer]
  - c. Possible score of 1 pt
- 8. Was the FFQ focused on a recalled dietary period that was prior to diagnosis?

- a. 0 pts = not stated or unclear
- **b.** 1 pt = yes
- c. Possible score: 1 pt
- 9. Was the survey time stated for either the FFQ or the whole questionnaire?
  - a. 0 pts for not stated
  - **b.** 1 pt = yes
  - c. Possible score: 1 pt

Maximum points = 15

FFQ for BT20 participants score: 13

FFQ for WBS participants score: 11 (failed to meet no. 8)

Appendix IIIa: Approval letter from Birth to Twenty to use the data for the study.



University of the Witwatersrand •
Private Bag 3, Wits, 2050, South Africa •
Tel: +27 11 933 1122 • Fax: +27 11 933 1424



3 August 2012

To whom it may concern,

## Re: Access - Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit/Birth to Twenty Data

This serves to confirm that the Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit, Department of Paediatrics and Child Health, School of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg owns access to the Developmental Pathways for Health Research Unit data and that I have given Mr Clarence Yah permission to access the required data.

Yours faithfully,

Dono

Shane Norris (PhD) Director and Associate Professor



Department of Paediatrics, School of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg Tel: +27-(0)-11-9331122 Mobile: +27-(0)-829282381 Appendix IIIb: University of the Witwatersrand Ethical Clearance Letter.

6.9						
-						
UNIVERSITY OF THE WITWATERSI Division of the Deputy Registrar (Research	RAND, JOHANNESBURG					
HUMAN RESEARCH ETHICS COMMI R14/49 Dr Clarence Suh Yah	ITTEE (MEDICAL)					
CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE PROJECT	M120862 The Association between Dietary Intake and Risk of Obesity among 17-year old Adolescents in Soweto Johannesburg, South					
	Africa in 2007/2008					
INVESTIGATORS	Dr Clarence Suh Yah.					
DEPARTMENT	School of Public Health					
DATE CONSIDERED	31/08/2012					
DECISION OF THE COMMITTEE*	Approved unconditionally					
Unless otherwise specified this ethical clearan application.	tee is valid for 5 years and may be renewed upon					
<u>DATE</u> 31/08/2012 <u>CH</u>	HAIRPERSON Plutfau					
*Guidelines for written 'informed consent' attach cc: Supervisor : Prof Tobias Chirwa	*Guidelines for written 'informed consent' attached where applicable cc: Supervisor : Prof Tobias Chirwa					
DECLARATION OF INVESTIGATOR(S) To be completed in duplicate and ONE COPY returned to the Secretary at Room 10004, 10th Floor, Senate House, University. I/We fully understand the conditions under which I am/we are authorized to carry out the abovementioned research and I/we guarantee to ensure compliance with these conditions. Should any departure to be contemplated from the research procedure as approved I/we undertake to resubmit the protocol to the Committee. Lagree to a completion of a yearly progress report. PLEASE QUOTE THE PROTOCOL NUMBER IN ALL ENQUIRIES						